# POST-OROGENIC EVOLUTION OF THE CENTRAL TYRRHENIAN MARGIN: INSIGHTS FROM HIGH PENETRATION AND HIGH RESOLUTION SEISMIC REFLECTION PROFILES

PhD Thesis

Ву

# Martina Misuraca

Scuola Dottorale in Geologia dell'Ambiente e delle Risorse (SDiGAR)

XXVIII Cycle

Università degli Studi Roma Tre, Rome, Italy

Supervisor: Prof. Domenico Cosentino (Università degli Studi Roma Tre, Rome Italy)

Co-tutor: Dott. Vincenzo Di Fiore (IAMC-CNR, Naples, Italy)

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1 - Introduction				
References:				
Abstract				
Introduction				
2. Geological framework	10			
2.1. Succession of deformational events	12			
. Methods				
4. Seismic dataset presentation	15			
4.1. Seismic units	15			
5. Seismic calibration				
5.1. Wells description	17			
5.1.1. Mondragone1	17			
5.1.2. Mara1	19			
5.2. Field work	19			
5.3. Seismic units calibration	20			
6. Structural analysis	21			
6.1. Seismic profiles	21			
6.2. Distribution of deformations and margin geometry	26			
6.3. Modeling of Sequence boundaries and timing of tectonic events	29			
6.4. Distribution of stress trough time and block rotations processes	31			
7. Conclusions				
References				
Abstract				
1. Introduction	43			
2. Geologic framework 44				
3. Methods	47			
4. Presentation of seismic data	48			
4.1. Seismic units	48			
5. Seismic calibration	49			
5.1. Depositional sequences and age constraints	51			
6. Structural analysis	53			
6.1. Timing of tectonic events	58			
6.2. Geometry of the basin	61			
6.3. Structural interpretation	62			
	2			

7.	Subsidence curves and seismic interpretation 64			
8.	Conclusions			
Refe	eferences			
Abs	Abstract			
1.	Introduction			
2.	Geologic framework			
3.	. Methods and dataset			
4.	Chirp	profiles	78	
4	.1. /	Acoustic units	78	
4	.2. (	Calibration	30	
5.	۶. Sparker profiles٤			
5	.1. /	Acoustic units	30	
5	.2. I	Interpretation	33	
	5.2.1.	. Age constraints ٤	34	
6. Structural pattern				
6	.1. 9	Structures revealed by Chirp profiles	35	
	6.1.1.	. Structural interpretation	38	
6	.2. 9	Structures revealed by Sparker profiles	90	
7.	Descr	ription of venting structures	<del>)</del> 1	
7	.1. I	Interpretation of fluid escape structures	<del>)</del> 5	
7	.2. 1	Pipe, fault or intrusion related structures?	96	
8.	Concl	lusionsc	98	
Refe	References			

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

The Tyrrhenian side of the central southern Apennines transition zone have experienced extensional processes since Late Miocene, occurring mainly along NE-SW and NW-SE main discontinuities (Liotta, 1991; Faccenna et al., 1994; De Rita & Giordano, 1996; Orsi et al., 1996; Acocella & Funiciello, 1999). NE-trending systems, cutting and interrupting the continuity of the main NW–SE striking planes, have been interpreted by several authors as transfer faults (Liotta, 1991; Faccenna et al., 1994), presumably related to the second order belt curvature (Oldow et al., 1993). Volcanic activity, aligned on a NW-SE direction, have been controlled by the same orthogonal systems of deformations (De Rita et al., 1994a; De Rita et al., 1994b; Faccenna et al., 1994; Acocella et al., 1996; De Rita & Giordano, 1996), predating and triggering magma rise (Acocella & Funiciello, 2002). The importance of NE-SW oriented transverse structures, has been also revealed by the seismic zonation of Italy (Meletti et al., 2000), individuating a NNE-SSW oriented discontinuity, representing, according to Di Bucci (2002), a barrier in the propagation of NW-SE trending active fault systems. Seismotectonic studies on this boundary sectors, within the Apennines, demonstrated the presence of NW–SE and NNE–SSW seismogenic structures, the latter still acting as transfer faults (De Luca et al., 2000; Pace et al., 2002; Milano et al., 2002, 2005). Records of strike-slip activity on NW-SE planes have been also reported by several authors in Plio-Quaternary times (Moussat et al., 1986; Sartori, 1990; Hyppolite et al, 1994; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006; Cinque et al., 1993). The strike-slip activity on such planes has been ascribed to a broader geodynamical setting, related to the tectonic disjunction between Southern Apennines and a Calabrian arc retreating towards SE (Knott & Turco, 1991; Cinque et al., 1993; Doglioni et al., 1996).

Transverse structures acted as tear faults in compression, as transfer fault in extension, triggered volcanic activity and controlled earthquakes distribution. The occurrence from Early Pleistocene of a NW-SE directed extension, furtherly rearranged and complicated the structural pattern. The aim of this PhD thesis is to unravel the tectono-sedimentary evolution of the sector and to better understand the kinematic history of the main tectonic contacts, from Late Miocene to Holocene times. A seismostratigraphical approach is here proposed. The identification of structural styles by seismic reflection profiles is a difficult procedure that may lead to mistakes in the interpretation. Map distributions of seismically detected structures represents a fundamental tool in order to

directly observe the geometric pattern of the main faults and establish the regional stress field distribution. Three different seismic grids, located in the Gaeta Gulf, enabled structural and stratigraphical observations on the postorogenic evolution of the central Tyrrhenian margin, both on the onshore and on the offshore sectors. High penetration and high resolution seismic profiles provided different details of investigations, enabling us to better comprehend the structural pattern and the geometrical relationships between major tectonic discontinuities, merging in the study area in a complex accommodation zone.

This PhD thesis is built up as a collection of three scientific papers, presented in the next chapters, that are the result of the work done in the last three years. These complementary papers form a coherent work, pointing out relevant implications on the Neogene evolution of the central Tyrrhenian margin.

In the first of these papers data from high penetration seismic lines have been used to reconstruct the geometry and structural setting of the offshore sectors of the Latium and Campanian Tyrrhenian margin from Late Miocene to Quaternary times. The 3D modelling of the base of the Plio-Pleistocene seismic units revealed the occurrence of NNE-SSW and WNW-ESE right and leftlateral shear zones. Tulip, palm tree flower structures and other structural features have been seismically detected an mapped, in order to create a synthetic structural maps and a kinematic model of a relatively unexplored sector.

In the second paper, high penetration seismic reflection profiles, kindly provided by ENI s.p.a, enabled the reconstruction of the deep structural architecture of the Volturno Plain, where deep wells reported at least 3km of Pleistocene continental and marine deposits. Releasing bends, structural inversions and normal listric faults have been displayed by seismic profiles, enabling the reconstruction of the main principal displacement zones (PDZs) active in Pleistocene times.

In the third and last paper, the Late Quaternary-to Holocene evolution of the northern Campania continental shelf has been investigated by the interpretation of a grid of high resolution Sparker and Chirp sub-bottom profiles. Morphobathymetric maps were reconstructed by the interpolation of seismically detected horizons, enabling in this way structural observations. Igneous intrusions, degassing features and minor faulting have been seismically detected and interpreted in a more comprehensive regional framework.

#### **References:**

Acocella V. & Funiciello R. (1999) - The interaction between regional and local tectonics during resurgent doming: the case of the island of Ischia, Italy. Journ. Volcan. & Geoth. Res., 88, 109-123.

Caiazzo C., Ascione A., Cinque A., 2006 - Late Tertiary–Quaternary tectonics of the Southern Apennines (Italy): New evidences from the Tyrrhenian slope. Tectonophysics, 421, 23–51

Cinque, A., Patacca, E., Scandone, P., Tozzi, M., 1993 - Quaternary kinematic evolution of the Southern Apennines. Relationship between surface geological features and deep lithospheric structures. Ann. Geofis. 36 (2), 249–260

De Rita D., Bertagnini A., Carboni M.G., Ciccacci S., Di Filippo M., Faccenna C., Fredi P., Funiciello R., Landi P., Sciacca P., Vannucci N. & Zarlenga F. (1994a) - Geological-petrological evolution of the Ceriti Mountains area (Latium, Central Italy). Mem. Descr. Carta Geol. d'Italia, 49, 291-322

De Rita D., Bertagnini A., Faccenna C., Landi P., Rosa C., Zarlenga F., Di Filippo M. & Carboni M.G. (1994b) – Evoluzione geopetrografica-strutturale dell'area tolfetana. Boll. Soc. Geol. It., 116, 143-175

De Rita D. & Giordano G. (1996) - Volcanological and structural evolution of Roccamonfina volcano (Italy): origin of the summit caldera. From McGuire, W.J., Jones, A.P. and Neuberg, J. (eds), Volcano instability on the Earth and other planets. Geological Society Special Publications, 110, 209-224.

Di Bucci, D., Corrado, S., Naso, G., 2002 - Active faults at the boundary between Central and Southern Apennines (Isernia, Italy). Tectonophysics 359, 47–63.

Doglioni C., Tropeano M., Mongelli F. & Pieri P. (1996) - Middle-late Pleistocene uplift of Puglia: an «anomaly» in the apenninic foreland. Mem. Soc. Geol. It., 51, 101-117.

Faccenna C., Funiciello R., Bruni A., Mattei M. & Sagnotti L. (1994) - Evolution of a transfer related basin: the Ardea basin (Latium, Central Italy). Basin Research, 6, 35-46.

Hippolyte, J.-C., Angelier, J., Roure, F., 1994b - A major geodynamic change revealed by Quaternary stress patterns in the Southern Apennines (Italy). Tectonophysics 230, 199–210

Knott S.D. & Turco E. (1991) - Late Cenozoic kinematics of the Calabrian Arc. Tectonics, 10, 1164-1172.

Liotta D. (1991) - The Arbia-Val Marecchia Line, Northern Apennines.Ecl. Geol. Helv., 84(2), 413-430.

Meletti, C., Patacca, E., Scandone, P., 2000 - Construction of a seismotectonic model: the case of Italy. Pure Appl. Geophys. 157, 11– 35.

Milano, G., Ventura, G., Di Giovambattista, R., 2002 - Seismic evidence of longitudinal extension in the Southern Apennines chain (Italy): the 1997–1998 Sannio–Matese seismic sequence. Geophys. Res. Lett. 29, 651–654.

Milano, G., Di Govambattista, R., Ventura, G., 2005 - The 2001 seismic activity near Isernia (Italy): implications for the seismotectonics of the Central–Southern Apennines. Tectonophysics 401, 167–178

Moussat, E., Rehault, J.P., Fabbri, A., 1986 - Rifting et evolution tectono-sèdimentaire du Bassin Tyrrhènien au cours du Neogene et du Quaternaire. G. Geol. ser. 3, 48 (1/2), 41–62

Oldow, J.S., D'Argenio, B., Ferranti, L., Pappone, G., Marsella, E., Sacchi, M., 1993 - Largescale longitudinal extension in the southern Apennines contractional belt, Italy. Geology 21, 1123–1126 1993

Orsi G., De Vita S. & Di Vito M., 1996 - The restless, resurgent Campi Flegrei nested caldera (Italy): costrains on its evolution and configuration. Journal Volcanology Geothermal Research, 74, 179-214

Pace, B., Boncio, P., Lavecchia, G., 2002 - The 1984 Abruzzo earthquake: an example of seismogenic process controlled by interaction between differently oriented synkinematic faults. Tectonophysics 350, 237–254

Sartori, R., 1990. The main results of ODP Leg 107 in the frame of Neogene to Recent geology of the Peri-Tyrrhenian areas. In: Kastens, A., Mascle, K.J., et al. (Eds.), Proceedings of ODP, Scientific Results, vol. 107. Ocean Drilling Program, College Station, TX, pp. 715–730

#### Chapter 2

## Postorogenic evolution of the central Tyrrhenian continental margin (central Italy)

#### Misuraca M., Cosentino D.

#### Università degli Studi Roma Tre, Department of Sciences, Rome, Italy

#### Abstract

Data from high penetration seismic lines have been used to reconstruct the geometry and structural setting of the Latium and Campanian Tyrrhenian margin from Late Miocene to Quaternary times. At a regional scale, a high penetration seismic grid located in the offshore sector of the margin, enabled the recognition of three main seismic units. Seismic interpretation was calibrated using Mara1 and Mondragone 1 deep wells, coupled with analyses on coastal outcrops. The identification of three main acoustic units allowed us to create 3D surfaces representing their relative boundaries. The bottom of the Plio-Pleistocene seismic unit and the top of the highly deformed acoustic substratum (B and A horizons, respectively) have been modeled throughout the margin. This reconstruction enabled us to imagine structural and depositional features within the acoustic substratum and the post-orogenic covers, respectively. The base of the Plio-Pleistocene seismic unit revealed an articulated surface, where relative highs and lows appear to be shifted along NNE-SSW and WNW-ESE right and left-lateral shear zones. Tulip and palm tree flower structures have been observed and their location defined the strike-slip stepover geometry of the main structural planes. The youngest seismic unit, resting above horizon B, was distinguished in three depositional sequences, correlatable to the well-known Plio-Quaternary transgression-regression cycles that affected the eastern Tyrrhenian continental margin. A 3D modelling of their relative sequence boundaries revealed a general basinward migration of mainly NW-SE elongated maximal depocenters, separated by a major E-W ridge. The formation of this structure has been referred to the arrangement of two overstepping E-W discontinuities, locally creating a restraining bend and interpreted as synthetical planes to the observed WNW-ESE main displacement zone.

## 1. Introduction

The Southern–Central Apennines Transition zone is crossed by major tectonic boundaries whose role and kinematics was the result of distinctive tectonic events affecting the margin from Late

Miocene to Pleistocene times. Separating the arcuate northern-central Apennines and the mainly NW-SE oriented southern segment, the NNE–SSW striking Ortona–Roccamonfina tectonic line (Locardi, 1982; Patacca and Scandone, 1989;) represents a main structural discontinuity. Most authors are in accordance conferring to this line a right-lateral kinematics in post-Messinian times (Locardi et al., 1982; Patacca et al., 1990; Di Bucci & Tozzi, 1991; Ghisetti & Vezzani, 1991; Ghisetti, Vezzani & Follador, 1993). Different structural styles of deformations, both in thrust mechanisms and in extensional features, affected the northern and the southern sectors of the Apenninetyrrhenian system. ESE of this crustal decoupling zone (Patacca et al., 1990), the stacking of tectonic units in thrusting processes (Scrocca et al., 2010) were influenced by the presence of pelagic units, resulting in thick and terrigenous sheets covering the Apulia units (Mostardini and Merlini, 1986; Corrado et al., 1997). A shallower trusting involving the Apulia units occurred instead in the northern sectors. The asymmetry in the opening of the Tyrrhenian Sea reflected also a difference in the resulting extensional tectonics. Subsidence rates related to the Messinian rifting phases, affecting the central-southern coastal plains, reported values of 5mm/yr, while records of 1.25mm/yr were reported for the northern domains (Cipollari et al., 1999). In Northern Apennines major listric E dipping and low angle normal faults with a staircase trajectory controlled the evolution of the resulted basin structures (Barchi et al., 1998a; Decandia et al., 1998; Barchi et al., 2010), recording an extension co-axial with the maximum shortening direction, related to the opening of the Tyrrhenian basin (Malinverno & Ryan, 1986; Kastens et al., 1988; Sartori, 1990; Lavecchia, 1987; Patacca & Scandone, 1989). The Late Miocene-Pliocene eastward migration of the Tyrrhenian extension was also recorded in the central-southern sectors, resulting in major high angle NW-SE normal faults (Patacca et al., 1990; Sartori, 1990). Starting from early Pleistocene a NW-SE stretching direction, creating major NE-SW normal faults (Moussat et al., 1986; Sartori et al., 1990; Hyppolite et al, 1994; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006) superposed on the previous rifting stages. Records of an interrelated strike-slip regime (Angelier & Bergerat, 1983) creating NW-SE left-lateral transtensive faults were observed in the Cilento and Sorrento regions (Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006), dating back to Pliocene times (Turco et al., 1990; Ascione & Cinque, 1996) and in the Pollino Ridge, dissecting also lower-middle Pleistocene deposits (Monaco & Tansi, 1992; Schiattarella, 1998). The Cilento-Pollino shear zone is another major tectonic discontinuity whose northern tip seems to affect also this sector of the Tyrrhenian margin. The strike-slip activity on such planes has been ascribed to a broader geodynamical setting, related to the tectonic disjunction between Southern Apennines and a

Calabrian arc retreating towards SE (Knott & Turco, 1991; Cinque et al., 1993; Doglioni et al., 1994). Many authors suggest also the presence of an E-W structural discontinuity separating the Northern Tyrrhenian domain from the Southern, known as the '41st Parallel Line'. The structural meaning of this discontinuity is still debated. Some authors (Lavecchia, 1987; Boccaletti et al., 1990; Oldow et al., 1993; Ferranti et al., 1996; Carminati et al., 1998) suggested that this tectonic line should have acted as a transfer fault characterized by left-lateral movements resulted by the asymmetry in the opening of the Tyrrhenian Sea. The merging area of all these major structural discontinuities corresponds to the northern Campania-southern Latium margin (Fig.1).



**Figure 1**: Synthetic sketch representing the area of study, evidencing how it corresponds to the merging area of the 41<sup>st</sup> parallel, ORL and Pollino-Cilento discontinuities tips.

The present study has been carried out in order to unravel the structural pattern of the area and the geometrical relationships between these tectonic lines in a complex accommodation zone. A grid of high penetration seismic reflection profiles enabled structural and stratigraphical observations finalized to improve the general knowledge on the Late Tertiary-Quaternary evolution of the offshore sectors of this key area.

## 2. Geological framework

The inner sectors of the Central-Southern Apennines have been involved in the tectonic wedge during Late Tortonian times (Fig.2), as revealed by thrust top and foredeep basins cropping out in

the Lepini-Ausoni-Aurunci tectonic Unit and in the Massico Mt (Cipollari and Cosentino, 1995a, b; Cosentino et al., 2003).



**Figure 2**: Structural sketch map of central-southern Apennines. Legend: 9) Pleistocene-Holocene alluvial deposits; 8) Quaternary volcanic deposits; 7) Early Pleistocene conglomeratic deposits; 6) Upper Messinian gypsum-bearing clays; 5) Late Tortonian siliciclastic foredeep deposits; 4) Langhian-Serravalian *Calcari a Briozoi e Litotamni* Fm; 3) Cretaceous shallow water limestones; 2) Jurassic shallow water limestones and dolomites; Triassic dolomites and limestones; A) undifferentiated faults.

The shifting of the related extensional back arc area at the rear of the orogenic system (Malinverno & Ryan, 1986; Kastens and Mascle, 1990; Boccaletti et al., 1990; Patacca et al., 1992; Carmignani et al., 1995; Faccenna et al., 1996; Jolivet et al., 1999; Pascucci et al., 1999; Cipollari et al., 1999; Mattei et al., 2002) resulted in late Messinian syn-rift deposits, as testified in the area by the outcrops, in the northwestern sectors of the Formia Plain, of gypsum-bearing clays (Cipollari et al., 1999). Evidence of late Messinian extensional tectonics have been recognized in the offshore on the Tyrrhenian ODP sites (Cita et al., 1990; Kastens and Mascle, 1990; Mascle and Rehault, 1990; Robertson et al., 1990; Sartori, 1990). Resting above upper Messinian sediments in the

Mondragone deep well, Pleistocene deposits characterized by cyclical alternations of marls, calcareous marls with frequent intercalations of sands and conglomerates bodies, correlated with the so colled "Conglomerati di Minturno" Auct., (Catenacci & Molinari, 1965; Naso & Tallini, 1993; Giordano et al., 1995; Cosentino et al., 2006) have been found. Three main depositional sequences related to major transgressive-regressive cycles affected the whole eastern Tyrrhenian margin from Pliocene to Quaternary times (Barberi et al., 1994). Two depositional sequences separated by an erosional unconformity characterize the Pliocene succession. From 4.9 to 3.2 My, extending from the Sphaerodinaellopsis seminulina to the G. puncticulata Zone, the first cycle is erosionally truncated by the transgressive calcareous sandstones corresponding to the G. aemiliana Zone of the second sedimentary cycle. Pleistocene marine clayey sands constitute the third depositional sequence. The unconformities between these depositional sequences have been related to major tectonic events producing hiatuses proportional to the resulted vertical movements affecting the eastern Tyrrhenian margin in Plio-Quaternary times. Starting from middle Pleistocene the onset of the Roccamonfina volcanic activity lead to the deposition of volcanoclastic and lava bodies (Giordano et al., 1995). The study area is located on the offshore sector of the Garigliano and the Volturno basins, in the Gaeta Gulf. The mentioned structures are separated by the Massico Mt., a roughly NE-SW trending horst located at the southern tip of the Ortona-Roccamofina tectonic line (Patacca et al., 1990; Mantovani et al., 1996; Billi et al., 1997). Two NE-SW Pleistocene normal faults bound respectively to the NW and to the SE the structure, individuating the Garigliano and the Volturno half-graben (Billi et al., 1997). Data from boreholes revealed different thickness in the quaternary infillings for the two basins. Cellole Aurunci deep well, located in the Garigliano basin, pointed out 700 m of Quaternary infralittoral to delta plain deposits, while subsidence rates much more intense have been recorded by deep boreholes located in the Volturno basin, where Castelvoturno 1, 2 and 3 recorded 3000 m of Quaternary marine to continental deposits (Ippolito et al., 1973; Giordano et al., 1995).

## 2.1. <u>Succession of deformational events</u>

A chronology of literature reported deformational events affecting the Tyrrhenian side of Central-Southern Apennines from Late Miocene to Late Pleistocene times is here proposed. According to Caiazzo et al. (2006), conducting a morphotectonic study on the carbonate promontories of Sorrento peninsula and Bulgheria Mt, four different deformational events controlled the evolution of the area. During middle-late Miocene, a strike-slip to subordinately compressional event with a

NW-SE maximum shortening direction was responsible for the main right-lateral NW-SE faults cropping out in the Sorrento peninsula. The successive deformational event, taking place in Pliocene times, was characterized by a N-S oriented  $\sigma_1$  producing both strike-slip and an interrelated homoaxial extensional regime with an E-W oriented stretching direction. It was responsible for the creation of transpressive structures, normal to oblique NW-SE faults and the reactivation of previous E-W striking faults. Thus, from Mid-Late Miocene to Pliocene times the  $\sigma_1$ changed from a NW-SE striking direction to a N-S main trend. According to Capotorti & Tozzi (1991), this major change in the structural pattern of deformations should invoke "block faulting rotations" processes instead of major changes in the stress field orientation. According to Caiazzo et al. (2006) a 60° counterclockwise rotation recognized by Gattacceca & Speranza (2002) affecting Mt. Bulgheria during Late Miocene, should explain a change in the orientation of the observed structures. An anticlockwise rotation, induced by the progressive arcuation of the belt, has been also proposed by Ferranti et al. (1996). According to the author this process has been accompanied by a NW-SE extension recorded in the internal sectors of Southern Apennines during Mio-Pliocene times (D'argenio et al., 1987; 1993; Oldow et al., 1993). This orogen-parallel extension, following the interpretation proposed by the author, ceased in Pleistocene times, with the onset of a NE-SW extension direction (Oldow et al., 1993; Ferranti et al., 1996). Several authors recognized instead a NW-SE stretching direction with an interrelated strike-slip regime taking place in the area since early Pleistocene times (Moussat et al., 1986; Sartori, 1990; Savelli and Schreider, 1991; Hyppolite et al., 1994; Milia & Torrente, 1999; Caiazzo et al., 2006). This event, corresponding to the third deformational event recognized by Caiazzo et al. (2006), was responsible for the formation of coastal graben bounded by NE-SW normal faults, as observed in the Garigliano, Volturno and Sele basins (Giordano et al., 1995; Aiello et al., 1997; Bruno et al., 1998) and for the formation of major left-lateral transtensive faults observed mainly in the Cilento-Pollino region (Turco et al., 1990; Monaco & Tansi, 1992; Cinque et al., 1993; Ascione & Cinque, 1996; Schiattarella, 1998; Caiazzo et al., 2006;). The fourth and final Late Quaternary extensional event recognized by the author was characterized by a NE-SW oriented  $\sigma_3$  resulting in NW-SE normal faults with medium to small scale vertical offsets and seems to be still active (Caiazzo et al., 2006). Fault planes have been reactivated several times by distinctive deformational events affecting the margin. Several studies pointed out the importance of strikeslip movements in this sector of the Tyrrhenian margin where tectonic inversions started to occur during Pliocene times, mainly with a right-lateral kinematic and continued in early middle Pleistocene with a major transtensive regime with a left-lateral kinematic on NW-SE faults (Turco et al., 1990; Monaco & Tansi, 1992; Cinque et al., 1993; Ascione & Cinque, 1996; Schiattarella, 1998; Saitto et al., 2002; Caiazzo et al., 2006;).

## 3. Methods

We have interpreted a grid of 15 high penetration seismic reflection profiles acquired by the Western Geophysical Company in 1968, documents accessible on Ministry of Economic Development website. Seismic sections have been calibrated with Mara1 and Mondragone deep wells, located respectively offshore and onshore the Gaeta gulf (Fig.3). To better calibrate the interpretation of the deep seismic sections some field works were carried out in the Garigliano and Volturno plains, as well on the Massico Mts. The approach here used is based on seismostratigraphic techniques. Criteria involved in this method mainly consist in the individuation of main discontinuities in the stratal architecture, in order to identify external shapes and internal configurations, attributable to already interpreted geometries and stratal patterns (Mitchum et al. 1977, Vail et al. 1977). Map distribution of the more relevant structures, a 3D modelling of sequence boundaries and the observation of the migration of depositional depocenters enabled the reconstruction of a kinematic model.



Figure 3: Location of the 15 high penetration profiles interpreted and of Mara1, Cellole Aurunci and Mondragone deep wells.

## 4. Seismic dataset presentation

## 4.1. <u>Seismic units</u>

We have recognized 3 major seismic units throughout the margin distinguished by two horizons. The top seismic sequence (unit3) has been further divided in three subunits separated by two main boundaries. A lenticular external shape and an internal prograding reflection configuration have been recognized for this seismic unit (Fig.4).



Figure 4: Seismic unit 3: evidence of its lenticular external configuration and progradational internal pattern.

Unit 3 is characterized by generally continuous reflections of middle-high amplitude, with parallel and sometimes divergent geometries. Three subunits constitute seismic unit3, corresponding, bottom to top, to Unit 3a, 3b and 3c. The top subunit displays a sigmoid progradational pattern with gently dipping reflections. The preservation of topsets, reaching at very low angles the surface, suggest processes of upbuilding in stratal architecture (Mithcum et al., 1977). Low angle downlap terminations have been revealed by its bottomsets. Unit 3b shows S-shaped clinoforms with gently dipping upper and lower segments and more steep middle segments. Toplap in the upper reflections and onlap-downlap terminations of middle to low amplitude reflections have been observed. Unit 3a displays medium to high amplitude reflections in a prograding configuration, with stratal reflections exhibiting a less clear lateral continuity. Disrupted reflectors, toplap terminations and a subparallel to divergent geometry characterize the bottom subunit 3a. A synthetic image (Fig. 5a, 5b) shows the stratigraphical features described for above presented seismic subunits. We pass down to a different acoustic signal, with stratal reflection arranged in a more chaotic pattern. Seismic horizon B constitute the upper boundary of Unit2 and is clearly traceable all over seismic profiles. The transition to the below unit is marked by high amplitude disrupted reflectors. A lenticular and sometimes wedge shaped external configuration characterize the second seismic unit. Its internal reflection pattern varies from more or less bedded diverging stratal architecture with medium to high amplitude reflectors, to chaotic and disorganized configurations (Fig.6). The transition to the below unit 1 is marked by an irregular horizon (Horizon A). Discontinuous and disrupted low amplitude reflections characterize this bottom unit (Fig.7).



**Figure 5a:** Seismic unit3: in yellow we have represented the base of the Plio-Quaternary sequences, in blue the unconformities (U1, U2) bounding the imaged subunits 3a, 3b and 3c. Unit 3b shows S-shaped clinoforms with gently dipping upper and lower segments and steeper middle segments.



**Figure 5b**: Seismic unit3: in yellow we have represented the base of the Plio-Quaternary sequences, in blue the unconformities (U1, U2) bounding the imaged subunits 3a, 3b and 3c. Disrupted reflectors, toplap terminations and a subparallel to divergent geometry characterize the bottom subunit 3a.



**Figure 6**: In yellow we have represented the base of the Plio-Quaternary sequences (B horizon) and in violet the top of the Apennine chain units (A horizon). Seismic facies of Unit2: internal pattern characterized by more or less bedded to chaotic stratal reflections.



**Figure 7**: In yellow we have represented the base of the Plio-Quaternary sequences (B horizon) and in violet the top of the Apennine chain units (A horizon). Seismic facies of unit1: disrupted high amplitude reflectors characterize this acoustic unit.

## 5. Seismic calibration

Boreholes data coming from Mondragone and Mara deep wells and field works performed in the Garigliano and Volturno plains, as well on the Massico Mts, enabled the calibration of deep seismic profiles.

## 5.1. Wells description

## 5.1.1. Mondragone1

The Mondragone 1 well is located in the Garigliano coastal plain (AGIP-DIMI, 1969). Reaching a total depth of 2002 meters (Fig.8), the deep well recorded a Late Miocene to Quaternary succession (Cosentino et al., 2006). According to the reinterpretation of the composite-log proposed by the author, the first 200m of sands and clayey sands sediments, with frequent intercalations of volcanic deposits, are attributable to an upper Pleistocene-Holocene succession. The following interval individuated by the author consists of a 370m thick marly zone, passing down at 570m to coarse-grained deposits characterized by 100 m of sands , gravels and conglomerates bodies correlated with "Conglomerato di Minturno" Auctt. This succession has

by the dipmeter measurements, occurred at 675m separating the above described succession from the underlying deposits. Siltstones, marly clays, sandstones and frequent intercalations of conglomeratic bodies characterize the following interval continuing until 2002m of depth. The ostracod assemblages recognized in the interval observed from 675m downward, pointed out a Late Messinian *Lago-Mare* succession (Grekoff and Molinari, 1963; Gramann, 1969; Molinari Paganelli, 1977; Benson, 1976; Roep and van Harten, 1979; Krstic and Stancheva, 1990; Gliozzi, 1999; Cipollari et al., 1999; Bonaduce and Sgarrella, 1999; Gliozzi et al., 2002). The 675 m depth unconformity recognized by Cosentino et al. (2006) and seismically detected by the same author on several high penetration profiles covering the basin, seems to separate a Pleistocene from a Late Miocene successions, without recording any Pliocene marker. The Late Messinian deposition suggests an initial increase in accommodation space followed by a decrease in water depth (Cosentino et al., 2006). Uplifted and tilted blocks could have been responsible for the lacking of Pliocene recordings (Cosentino et al., 2006). The Late Messinian succession drilled in Mondragone 1 deep well has been correlated with the pre-Pliocene deposits recognized in the Tyrrhenian bathyal plain at the ODP Site 652 (Cosentino et al., 2006).



**Figure 8**: Reinterpretation of the Mondragone 1 well, proposed by Consentino (2006) and tentative correlation with Mara1 and Cellole Aurunci deep well, calibrating seismic data.

## 5.1.2. Mara1

Mara 001 well is a 2909m long core (Fig.8) located in the immediate offshore of the Garigliano basin (AGIP-DIMI, 1969). The first 350m are characterised by Pleistocene clayey sands passing down to 1200m of siltstones, marly clays, sandstones and frequent intercalations of conglomeratic bodies. An indicative and general Miocene age has been attributed to this interval by the authors of the borehole stratigraphy, referring the last 325m to the "Frosinone Flysch" Auctt (AGIP-DIMI, 1969). Downward, from 1568m to 2735m, the borehole stratigraphic description pointed out Mesozoic carbonates thrusting onto Meso-Cenozoic carbonatic and siliciclastic deposits, closing the recorded succession. Lithologic analogies in the Miocene alternations of marly-clays, sandstones and mega-beds of polygenic conglomerates have been recognized with the reinterpreted Late Messinian succession observed in the Mondragone 1 deep well (Cosentino et al., 2006). Similarities in the spontaneous potential log, characterizing rock formation properties of such intervals, have been recognized (Ilaria Federici, unpublished thesis, 2005), suggesting a possible correlation of the Late Messinian Lago-Mare succession recognized in Mondragone 1 well with the 1200m thick Miocene siliclastic deposits reported in Mara1 long core.

# 5.2. Field work

The highly deformed carbonatic Meso-Cenozoic shallow-water carbonate substratum succession of the Massico Mts ends with the Middle Miocene carbonate-ramp deposits (*Calcari a briozoi e litotamni* Fm). Conformably on those shallow-water limestones, Massico Mt. show marls rich in planktonic foraminifera (*Marne a Orbulina* Fm). On a clear erosional surface cutting down the Meso-Cenozoic substratum, we observed a coarse-grained siliciclastic succession containing olistostromes with allochthounous materials (marbles) and carbonate from the substratum (Fig.9). The basal unconformity and the occurrence of some compressional deformation within this unconformable bounded stratigraphic unit, point to interpret this deposit as sedimented into a thrust-top basin. Biostratigraphical analyses on the calcareous nannofossil assemblages of the *Marne a Orbulina* Formation were carried out in order to find a chronostratigraphical constrain to define the maximum age of the thrust top basin. Unfortunately no useful markers were found. A possible post-Tortonian age for the deposit was suggested by analogy with the Torrice, Gavignano and Caiazzo units, located nearby the study area (Cosentino et al., 2003).



Figure 9: Picture took on the Massico Mts showing a coarse-grained siliciclastic succession containing olistostromes.

# 5.3. <u>Seismic units calibration</u>

The first seismic unit (Unit3) showing a sigmoidal external configuration has been furtherly subdivided in minor subunits constituted by an internal progradational stratal pattern. Data from literature reported at least three main depositional sequences related to major transgressive-regressive cycles affecting the whole eastern Tyrrhenian margin from Pliocene to Quaternary times (Barberi et al., 1994). Following the stratigraphic reconstruction offered by the author, top to bottom the first seismic subunit 3c could be correlated with Pleistocene marine clayey sands constituting the third cycle individuated by the author along the central eastern Tyrrhenian margin. Piacenzian calcareous sandstones characterizing the second transgressive-regressive cycle could be referred to our seismic subunit 3b. In this way the bottom subunit 3a should be correlated with Clays and marly clays related to the lower Pliocene (Zanclean) marine transgression. The unconformities separating the cycles previously discussed seem to have been controlled by major tectonic events, producing main erosional surfaces. The offshore calibration covered only the upper part of seismic subunit 3c, recording 300 m of upper Pleistocene marine clayey sands directly deposited above Upper Messinian sediments. A more continuous record was offered by Mondragone 1 deep well, constraining also the lower part of seismic subunit 3c. 675 m

of Pleistocene deposits characterized by cyclical alternations of marls, calcareous marls with frequent intercalations of sands and conglomerates rested above Upper Messinian sediments in the 2002m deep borehole. The lacking of a clear datum to calibrate seismic subunit 3b and 3a led us to refer our subunits to the depositional sequences related to Pliocene transgressive-regressive cycles individuated by Barberi (1994). Below B horizon separating the first and the second seismic unit we have an acoustic body characterized by different internal configurations. The geological interpretation of Unit 2 is still uncertain lacking a clear datum to calibrate it. On land it was partially drilled by Mondragone 1 and Cellole Aurunci wells and offshore Mara 1 well offered a stratigraphical description for that interval. The original litholog of those boreholes reports the deposits corresponding to this seismic unit as Frosinone Flysch (Agip-Dimi, 1969). Biostratigraphical analyses carried out on a new sampling on Mondragone deep well cores (Cosentino et al., 2006) allowed to better characterize the fauna and to update the description of the stratigraphy. The deposit drilled below the 675 m depth unconformity found in Mondragone 1 well is characterized by an alternation of clay and sands with intercalations of conglomerate beds and corresponds to the uppermost portion of post-evaporitic succession (p-ev2). A possible correlation of that deposit with the interval 350-1568m depth in Mara 1 well was also suggested. In the study area on land geology shows the presence, on top of the deformed substratum, of Late Messinian syn-rift basins (Cipollari & Cosentino 1992; Cipollari et al., 1999). In the vicinity of the study area it is also well documented the presence of early Messinian thrust-top basins, such as Torrice, Gavignano and Caiazzo Units (Cosentino et al., 2003). Seismic lenticular bodies on top of the Apennine units have been seismically detected, though the complexity in the internal organization, a low quality of signal and the absence of a certain datum to calibrate our seismic lines, led us to give for that unit only a general seismostratigraphical description. The bottom unit (Unit1) has been correlated with the Apennine chain units. It represents the acoustic substratum, characterized in the area by shallow-and deep-water carbonates and siliciclastic foredeep deposits as suggested by the control offered by Mara 1 deep well.

#### 6. Structural analysis

### 6.1. <u>Seismic profiles</u>

The stratigraphic interpretation of high penetration seismic reflection profiles pointed out the presence of three sequences distinguished by two major horizons (A, B). Within Unit 3 we have recognized three sigmoidal depositional sequences bounded by two erosional surfaces (U1, U2).

Seismic lines (188, 192, 101.21-22, 101.23, 109.25) enabled also structural observations revealing deformations resulted from distinctive tectonic events from Late Miocene to Pleistocene times. Seismic lines 188 (Fig.10) and 101.21.22 (Fig.11), dip and strike sections respectively, showed the occurrence of lateral ramps of NE verging thrusts deforming Unit 1. Different positions in frontal thrust sheets have been displayed for the northern and southern sectors.



**Figure 10**: seismic profile 188: a dip section showing NE Verging thrusts, SW dipping normal faults, affecting seismic subunit 3a and a palm tree like flower structure, deforming seismic units 1 and 2.

Strike Seismic sections 101.23 (Fig.12) and 101.21-22 revealed the presence of mainly NW dipping NE-SW normal listric faults, cutting A horizon and characterizing the wedge like external configuration of Unit2. E-NE and W-SW verging thrusts affecting Unit 1 and Unit 2 have been observed in northern sectors of the interpreted grid, describing an upward spreading structural pattern, observed in seismic dip and strike sections 188 and 101.21-22. The same trending upward spreading system of deformations have been recognized in the southern sector. Seismic section 101.23 allowed the recognition of downward linking WNW-ESE main thrusts deforming Unit 1 and Unit 1 and Unit 2, up and down-throwning the related A and B horizon. In the same section NE-SW normal

faults control the wedging geometry of Unit2 and seem to correspond to lateral ramps of NE verging thrusts, later reactivated in extension.



**Figure 11**: seismic section 101.21-22: a strike profile showing the occurrence of lateral ramps of NE verging thrusts, NW dipping normal faults, controlling the wedge like external form of Unit2 and evidencing the presence of a tulip like structure, affecting unit 1 and 2. Finally, NW and SE dipping normal faults cut all the imaged units.

This profile showed the occurrence of an inversion in the polarity of structural relief controlled by a fault plane, traced also on seismic section 192 (Fig.13), initially controlling in extension the late Messinian deposition of Unit 2 and later upthrowing the individuated block, as testified by kinks and digitisation in the stratal reflections of the above Unit3. Similar kinkings in the Plio-Pleistocene stratal reflections constituting seismic Unit3 have been also observed in section 192. This dip section revealed a system of deformations characterised by ENE-WSW verging thrusts accommodating the growth of a structure. The same system of deformations have been observed on seismic profile 109.25 (Fig.14), a strike section cutting the structure along another direction and

intersecting the above described seismic profile. NW and SE verging and downward linking thrusts, deforming Unit 1 and Unit 2, seem to affect also sub unit 3c, revealing kinks above the growing structure. NE-SW normal faults cut all the mentioned units, as testified by seismic section 101.21-22.



**Figure 12**: seismic profile 101.23: a strike section revealing lateral ramps of thrusts later reactivated in extension and controlling the deposition of unit2. Evidence of downward linking thrusts, deforming unit 1 and 2 and occurrence of positive structural inversions: a late Messinian normal fault seem to have been reactivated in compression in Pliocene times.



**Figure 13**: seismic profile 192: a dip seismic section revealing the presence of a NE verging thrust, of a NE dipping normal fault and showing the occurrence of a positive flower structure. Evidence of kinks in the Plio-Pleistocene stratal reflections of Unit3.





**Figure 14**: seismic profile 109.25: a strike secton revealing a system of upward spreading thrusts and the occurrence of an ESE dipping normal fault, controlling the wedge like external form of subunit 3a.

# 6.2. Distribution of deformations and margin geometry

The geometry revealed by the modeling of A (Fig.15) and B horizon (Fig.16) and the map distribution of the seismically detected structures defined the direction of the main discontinuities controlling the architecture of the margin. Relative highs and lows appear to be shifted along N30E right-lateral and NW-SE left-lateral strike slip faults, constituting in our interpretation the main principal displacement zones defining the geometry of the margin. The individuation of structures and the distribution of deformational patterns on the interpreted grid, enabled the building of a kinematic model and the reconstruction of a structural synthetic map, reflecting the timing of tectonic events affecting the margin form Miocene to Pleistocene times (Fig.17).



Figure 15: modelled A horizon: TWT surface showing the geometry of the top of the Apennine chain units.



**Figure 16:** modelled B horizon: TWT surface representing the base of the Plio-Quaternary cover. A shift in the offshore prolongation of the Massico Mts has been here observed. . Relative highs and lows appear to be shifted along N30E right-lateral and NW-SE left-lateral strike slip faults, in our interpretation.



**Figure 17**: proposed structural synthetic map, reflecting the timing of tectonic events affecting the margin form Miocene to Pleistocene times. Location of seismically detected positive flower structures and suggested kinematic model.

NE verging thrusts affecting the Meso-Cenozoic acoustic substratum seem to be shifted along a NE-SW striking discontinuity with a right-lateral kinematic. NE-SW normal faults mainly NW dipping, dissect the orogenic structures controlling the deposition of Upper Messinian sediments arranged in wedge shaped acoustic bodies. NW-SE oriented structural planes seem to coincide with previous contractional fronts reactivated in extension in Lower Pliocene. These discontinuities controlled the wedge-like geometries of subunit 3a in the northern sector and produced tectonic inversions in the southern one. Then NE-SW normal faults controlled the Pleistocene evolution of the margin, as observed on seismic profiles and reported in literature (Moussat et al., 1986; Sartori, 1990; Hyppolite et al, 1994; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006). Tectonic inversions on normal faults and strike slip faulting, producing on the overstepping regions upthrown blocks in a flower type geometry, started to occur in Pliocene times. The Meso-Cenozoic acoustic substratum and the Messinian lenticular bodies on top of it are involved in palm-tree and tulip-like structures. Positive structural inversions are also testified by changes in the polarity of structural reliefs, as shown in section 101-23, giving the main constrain to the occurrence of this

strike-slip regime, influencing the arrangement of the margin also in Pleistocene times. The sigmoidal progradational pattern characterizing the Plio-Pleistocene sedimentation of Unit3 in fact displays kinks and digitizations, testifying tectonic inversions on pure dip-slip components (Harding, 1985). Strata related to Upper Pleistocene subunit 3c seem to be deformed by the tulip like growing structure, showing kinkings in the upper stratal reflections. Both on A and B surfaces we have observed an offset in the offshore prolongation of the Massico Mts, suggesting left-lateral movements on a NW-SE striking principal displacement zone active since Early Pliocene times, as testified by the first tectonic inversions displayed on seismic data. The location of the upward spreading systems of deformations recognized on seismic lines and interpreted as the occurrence of positive flower structures, defined the strike-slip stepover geometry of the main structural planes.

## 6.3. Modeling of Sequence boundaries and timing of tectonic events

We have modeled the unconformities (B horizon and U1, U2 unconformities) bounding the three Plio-Quaternary depositional sequences and described the observed patterns. The surfaces modeled represent, bottom to top, the erosional unconformity predating the onset of the lower Pliocene marine ingression (B horizon), a second erosional unconformity, predating the Piacenzian deposits of the second transgressive-regressive cycle and an erosional surface predating the late Gelasian-Early Calabrian marine ingression. The results show us a general basinward migration of mainly NW-SE elongated maximal depocenters separated by a major E-W ridge. The first seismic subunit 3a, lying on top of the modelled B horizon, seems to be controlled by major NW-SE normal to oblique faults generating wedge-like geometries in the northern sector, individuating its NW-SE oriented maximum depocenter. Tectonic inversions start to occur within subunit 3a, which appear to be bent and deformed by NW and SE verging and downward linking thrusts, organized in a positive flower like geometry as observed on seismic section 101-23. The erosional surface representing the base of the second depositional sequence enabled the observation of this upthrown structure, revealing its ENE-WSW trending direction, separating two WNW-ESE elongated morphological lows (Fig.18). The second depositional sequence shows a more clearly progradational configuration pattern, displaying onlap terminations on the modeled and previously described sequence boundary U1. In section 192 little kinks against an upthrown growing structure testify the deformation occurring on it. The surface representing the base of the third depositional sequence reveal two morphological lows elongated in a NW-SE direction (Fig.19). Their position revealed a basinward migration of depositional depocenter, suggesting a decrease in the accommodation space occurring during the last transgressive-regressive cycle. Also in this case an E-W trending structure separates two observed sequence depocenters. Kinks and digitisations against an upthrown flower structure on the upper Pleistocene stratal reflections observed in section 109.25, revealed a deformation still active affecting seismic subunit 3c.



**Figure 18**: 3D modelling of U1 unconformity, representing the base of the second depositional sequence. In pink and red we have represented morphological highs and in green and blue, we have the lowest values. Evidence of an ENE-WSW oriented rodge separating two WNW-ESE oriented morphological lows.



**Figure 19**: modelling of U2 unconformity, representing the base of the third depositional sequence. In pink and red we have represented morphological highs and in green and blue, we have the lowest values. NW-SE oriented morphological lows seem to be separated by an ENE-WSW oriented ridge.

# 6.4. Distribution of stress trough time and block rotations processes

PDZs have not been directly observed but inferred by the mapped distribution of strike-slip related structures and by the modelling of sequence boundaries, revealing the more relevant discontinuities. The 3D modelling of the base of Plio-Quaternary infillings revealed NE-SW and NW-SE main discontinuities controlling the geometry of the margin. An E-W oriented ridge has been recognized by the 3D modelling of Plio-Quaternary sequence boundaries. Seismic profile 101.23 revealed the transpressive nature of this upthrown structure. Such an E-W trending structure could be interpreted as the result of different processes: 1) it could be attributed to deformations occurring on E-W trending left-lateral planes, interpreted as R synthetic planes to the WNW-ESE main faults, 2) to changes in stress field orientations creating new discontinuities 3) to block rotation processes results and 4) to reactivation of previously formed structural planes. Four states of stress have been recognized analysing the structural features affecting the margin from Late Miocene to Pleistocene times (Fig.20): 1) a Tortonian NE-SW oriented  $\sigma_1$  responsible for

the thrust sheets emplacement, 2) a Late Messinian NW-SE oriented  $\sigma_3$  responsible for the NE-SW faulting, 3) a Lower Pliocene NNE-SSW oriented  $\sigma_3$  producing WNW-ESE normal to oblique faults and 4) a NW-SE oriented  $\sigma_3$  causing major Pleistocene NE-SW normal faults. The first event was characterized by a reverse regime and was followed by the onset of an extensional event.



**Figure 20**: recognized states of stress analysing the structural features affecting the margin from Late Miocene to Pleistocene times. A change in the stress field orientation has been recorded by the structural features related to the third tectonic event. Local permutations among  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  axis in an homoaxial stress regime, characterized by an oriented NNE-SSW  $\sigma_3$ , produced an extensional with and interrelated strikeslip regime. In Pleistocene times the fourth deformational event resulted in NE-SW normal faults with a NW-SE oriented  $\sigma_3$ . These results invoke major changes in stress field orientations or block fault rotations. The structural pattern is mainly constituted by NE-SW and WNW-ESE fault planes probably reactivated several times with different kinematics. This tectonic style, characterized by the presence of main blocks bounded by strike-slip faults and with deformations mainly located at the boundary of the imaged structural blocks, suggests the occurrence of rotations. Gattacceca & Speranza (2006) report a 60° counterclockwise rotation during Late Miocene times for Monte

Bulgheria. Capotorti & Tozzi (1991) suggest that similar processes should have rearranged the Sorrento peninsula in post Messinian times. Nevertheless records of mainly left-lateral movements on NW-SE planes should suggest, following the hypothesis of the authors, a clockwise preferred rotation. In this scenario overlaps, corresponding to area of reverse faulting and gaps, coinciding with sectors in extension, should form and match the observed trend (Fig.21). In any case data from literature report stretching directions changing from an E-W orientation in the initial rifting stages during Late Miocene-Pliocene times to a NW-SE orientation in post-Pliocene times (Sartori, 1990; Moussat et al., 1986), without invoking block fault rotations. The absence of paleomagnetic data avoid to build a model, allowing only working preliminary hypothesis. Our hypothesis is that E-W structural planes should represent synthetical planes to the WNW-ESE main displacement zone.



**Figure 21**: main structural discontinuities recognized by the modelling of sequence boundaries: B horizon (on the left side). Modelling of U1 unconformity, representing the base of the second depositional sequence: overlaps, corresponding to area of reverse faulting and gaps, coinciding with sectors in extension (in grey in the figure), should match the observed trend (on the right side).

## 7. Conclusions

The geometry of the margin has been controlled by NW-SE, NE-SW and E-W structural discontinuities, reactivated several times in different kinematic contexts. A NE-SW oriented  $\sigma_1$  responsible for the thrust sheets emplacement in Late Tortonian times, has been followed by the onset of an extensional regime, taking place in the study area with NE-SW Late Messinian listric faults, reactivating in extension lateral ramps of Late Tortonian thrust sheets. Starting from early Pliocene, local permutations among  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  axis in an homoaxial stress regime characterized by an oriented NNE-SSW  $\sigma_3$ , produced an extensional with and interrelated strike-slip regime. A similar state of stress has been recognized by Caiazzo et al. (2006), conducting structural and morphotectonic analysis on the Tyrrhenian side of Southern Apennines. The author recognized

major NW-SE trending strike-slip faults, locally creating palm-tree and other transpressive structures, from Late Miocene to Early Pliocene times. This event, corresponding to the "D2 deformational event" individuated by Caiazzo et al. (2006), was responsible, following the interpretation of the author, for the reactivation as transfer faults of older E-W oriented segments. In our grid tectonic inversions, palm-tree and tulip-like flower structures, expression of NW-SE and NE-SW segmented principal displacement zones, have been detected. E-W trending discontinuities, active in Pliocene times and creating push-up structures in the stepover region, have also been recognized. Our interpretation distances itself from the one proposed by the author for the deducted sense of shear. The elaborated modelling of the base of Plio-Quaternary infillings revealed a shift of the Massico Mts offshore prolongation, compatible with a left-lateral kinematics, as already pointed out by Bruno et al. (2000). The antithetical plane of this NW-SE leftlateral plane corresponded in our interpretation to NE-SW right-lateral striking planes, already recognized in the onshore sector of the study area and correlatable with segments of the ORL tectonic line (Patacca et al., 1990; Mantovano et al., 1996; Billi et al., 1997; Bruno et al., 2000). Starting from early Pleistocene times, a NW-SE oriented  $\sigma_3$  created major NE-SW normal faults influencing the present day morphology of the margin with the formation of coastal graben. Our grid offered the opportunity to visualize the early Pleistocene faulting on such NE-SW normal faults. Evidence of tectonic inversions on the main discontinuities affecting the margin, coinciding with kinks and digitisations against flower-like structures have been pointed out also in Pleistocene times. Records of an interrelated strike-slip regime (Angelier & Bergerat, 1983) creating NW-SE left-lateral transtensive faults (Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006) were reported for early-Middle Pleistocene times.

#### References

AGIP-DIMI, 1969. Stratigraphical Log of Mondragone 1 Well. AGIPDIMI, Servizio Geologico del Sottosuolo. S. Donato Milanese, Milan

Aiello, G., Budillon, F., de Alteris, G., Di Razza, O., De Lauro, M., Ferraro, L., Marsella, E., Pelosi, N., Pepe, F., Sacchi, M., Tondelli, R., 1997. Seismic exploration of the peri-Tyrrhenian basins in the Latium–Campania offshore. 8th Workshop of the ILP Task Force "Origin of Sedimentary Basins", Palermo (Italy), 7–13 June 1997, pp. 22–23.

Angelier, J., Bergerat, F., 1983. Systèmes de contrainte et extension intracontinentale. Bull. Cent. Rech. Explor. Prod. Elf-Aquitaine 7, 137–147.

Ascione, A. & Cinque, A., 1996 - L'età della tettonica trascorrente nell'Appennino campano: il contributo dell'analisi geomorfologica. Studi Geologici Camerti, vol. spec. 1995(2), 41-52.

Barberi, F., Buonasorte, G., Cioni, R., Fiordelisi, A., Foresi, L., Iaccarino, S., Laurenzi, M.A., Sbrana, A., Vernia, L. and Villa, I.M., 1994 – Plio-Pleistocene geological evolution of the geothermal area of Tuscany and Latium. Mem. Descr. Carta Geol. D'It., 49, 77-134.

Barchi, M., Minelli, G., Pialli, G., 1998a - The CROP 03 Profile: a synthesis of results on deep structures of the Northern Apennines. Memorie della Società Geologica Italiana, 52, 383–400.

Barchi, M. R., De Feyter, A., Magnani, M. B., Minelli G., Pialli, G., Sotera, M., 1998b. The structural style of the Umbria-Marche fold and thrust belt. Memorie della Societa Geologica Italiana, 52, 557–578.

Barchi, M.R., Beltrando, M., Conticelli, S., Doglioni, C., Mattei, M., 2010 – The Neogene-Quaternary evolution of the Northern Appennines: crustal structure, style of deformation and seismicity. Journal of the Virtual Explorer, 36, paper 10, 1-25.

Benson, R.H., 1976 - Changes in the ostracods of the Mediterranean with the Messinian Salinity Crisis. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclim. Palaeoecol. 20, 147–170.

Billi, A., Bosi, V., DeMeo, A., 1997 – Caratterizzazione strutturale del rilievo del M. Massico nell'ambito dell'evoluzione quaternaria delle depressioni costiere dei fiumi Garigliano e Volturno (Campania settentrionale). Il Quaternario 10, 15-26.

Boccaletti, M., Ciaranfi, N., Cosentino, D., Deiana, G., Gelati, R., Lentini, F., Massari, F., Moratti, G., Pescatore, T., Ricci Lucchi, F., Tortorici, L., 1990 - Palinspastic restoration and paleogeographic reconstruction of the peri-Tyrrhenian area during the Neogene. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclim. Palaeoecol. 77, 41–50

Bonaduce, G., Sgarrella F., 1999 - Paleoecological interpretation of the latest Messinian sediments from southern Sicily (Italy). Mem. Soc. Geol. Ital. 54, 83–91.

Bruno, P.P.G., Cippitelli, G., Rapolla, A., 1998 - Seismic study of the Mesozoic carbonate basement around Mt. Somma–Vesuvius, Italy. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res. 84, 311–322.

Bruno P.P., Di Fiore V., Ventura G., 2000 - Seismic study of the '41st Parallel' Fault System offshore the Campanian–Latial continental margin, Italy. Tectonophysics 324 (2000) 37–55

Caiazzo C, Ascione A., Cinque A., 2006 - Late Tertiary–Quaternary tectonics of the Southern Apennines (Italy): New evidences from the Tyrrhenian slope. Tectonophysics 421 (2006) 23–51

Capotorti, F., Tozzi, M., 1991. Tettonica trascorrente nella penisola sorrentina. Mem. Soc. Geol. Ital. 47, 235–249.

Carmignani, L., Decandia, F.A., Disperati, L., Fantozzi, P.L., Lazzarotto, A., Liotta, D., Oggiano, G., 1995 - Relationships between the Tertiary structural evolution of the Sardinia–Corsica– Provençal Domain and the Northern Apennines. Terra Nova 7, 128–137.

Carminati, E., Wortel, M.J.R., Spakman, W., Sabadini, R., 1998 - The role of slab detachment processes in the opening of the western-central Mediterranean basins: some geological and geophysical evidence. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 160, 651–665

Catenacci, E., Molinari, V., 1965 - Sull'età dei conglomerati di Minturno (Lazio meridionale). Boll. Serv. Geol. Ital. 86, 3–17.

Cinque A., Patacca E., Scandone P. & Tozzi M., 1993 – Quaternary kinematic evolution of the Southern Apennines. Annali di Geofisica, 36 (2), 249-260

Cipollari P., Cosentino D., 1992 – Considerazioni sulla strutturazione della catena dei Monti Aurunci: vincoli stratigrafici. Studi Geologici Camerti, vol. spec. 1991/2, 151-156.

Cipollari, P., Cosentino, D., 1995a - Il sistema Tirreno–Appennino: segmentazione litosferica e propagazione del fronte compressivo. Studi Geologici Camerti, vol. spec. 1995/2, 125–134.

Cipollari, P., Cosentino, D., 1995b - Miocene unconformities in Central Apennines: geodynamic significance and sedimentary basin evolution. Tectonophysics 252, 375–389

Cipollari, P., Cosentino, D., 1996 - Miocene tectono-sedimentary events and geodynamic evolution of the central Apennines (Italy). Notes et Mem. Serv. Geol. Maroc 387, 163–176.

Cipollari P., Cosentino D., Gliozzi E., 1999 - Extension- and compression-related basins in central Italy during the Messinian Lago-Mare event. Tectonophysics 315 (1999) 163–185.
Cita, M.B., Santambrogio, S., Melillo, B., Rogate, F., 1990 - Messinian paleoenvironments: new evidence from the Tyrrhenian sea (ODP Leg 107). In: Kastens, K.A., et al., (Eds.), Proc. ODP, Sci. Results 107, 211–227

Corrado, S., Di Bucci, D., Leschiutta, I., Naso, G., Trigari, A., 1997 - La tettonica quaternaria della Piana d'Isernia nell'evoluzione strutturale del settore molisano. Quaternario 10 (2), 609–614.

Cosentino, D., Cipollari, P., Pipponzi, G., 2003 - Il sistema orogenico dell'Appennino centrale: vincoli stratigrafici e cronologia della migrazione. Studi Geol. Camerti, Numero Spec. 85–99.

D'Argenio B., letto A & Oldow J., 1987 – Low angle normal faults in the Picentini Mountains (Southern Italy). Rend. Soc. Geol. It., 9, 113-125

Decandia, F. A., Lazzarotto, A., Liotta, D., Cernobori, L., and Nicolich, R., 1998 - The CROP03 traverse: insights on post-collisional evolution of Northern Apennines: Memorie della Società Geologica Italiana, 52, 427–440.

Di Bucci, D., & Tozzi, M., 1991 - La linea Ortona-Roccamonfina: Revisione dei dati esistenti e nuovi contributi per il settore settentrionale (media Valle del Sangro). Studi Geologici Camerti, 1991/2, 397–406.

Doglioni, C., Mongelli, F., Pieri, P., 1994 - The Puglia uplift (SE Italy): an anomaly in the foreland of Apenninic subduction due to buckling of a thick continental lithosphere. Tectonics 13, 1309–1321.

Faccenna, C., Davy, P., Brun, J.P., Funiciello, R., Giardini, D., Mattei, M., Nalpas, T., 1996 - The dynamics of back-arc extension: an experimental approach to the opening of the Tyrrhenian Sea. Geophys. J. Int. 126, 781–795.

Federici I., 2005 – Evoluzione neogenico-quaternaria del bacino Formia-Garigliano: stratigrafia e paleoecologia del sondaggio Mondragone 1. Unpublished thesis, Scienze Geologiche, Università degli Studi Roma Tre.

Ferranti, L., Oldow, J.S., Sacchi, M., 1996 - Pre-Quaternary orogen-parallel extension in Southern Apennines belt, Italy. Tectonophysics, 260, 325–347.

Gattacceca, J., Speranza, F., 2002 - Paleomagnetism of Jurassic to Miocene sediments from the Apenninic carbonate platform (southern Apennines, Italy): evidence for a 60° counterclockwise Miocene rotation. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 201, 19–34.

Giordano, G., Naso, G., Trigari, A., 1995 - Evoluzione tettonica di un settore particolare del margine tirrenico: l'area al confine tra Lazio e Campania, prime considerazioni. Studi Geolog. Camerti, Vol. spec. 1995/2, 269–278

Ghisetti, F., & Vezzani, L.,1991 - Thrust belt development in the central Apennines (Italy): Northward polarity of thrusting and out-of-sequence deformation in the Gran Sasso chain. Tectonics, 10(5), 904–919.

Ghisetti, F., Vezzani, L., & Follador, U., 1993 - Transpressioni destre nelle zone esterne dell'Appennino Centrale. Geologica Romana, 29, 73–95

Gliozzi, E., 1999 - A late Messinian brackish water ostracod fauna of Paratethyan aspect from Le Vicenne (abruzzi, central Apennines, Italy). Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 151, 191–208

Gliozzi, E., Cipollari, P., Cosentino, D., 2002 - The Messinian Lago–Mare event in central Italy: palaeogeographical reconstruction using geological data and ostracod assemblages. Bull. Serb. Acad. Sci. Arts, Cl. Sci. Nat. 41, 121–152.

Gramann, F., 1969 - Das Neogen im Strimon-Becken (Griechisch-Ostmazedonien). II. Palaeontologie. Geol. Jb. 87, 485–528

Grekoff, N., Molinari, V., 1963 - Sur une faune d'Ostracodes saumâtres du Néogène de Castell'Arquato (Emilia). Geol. Rom. 2, 1–6.

Harding T. P., 1985 – Seismic characteristics and identification of negative flower structures, positive flower structures and positive structural inversion. The American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 69 (4), 582-600.

Hippolyte, J.-C., Angelier, J., Roure, F., 1994b - A major geodynamic change revealed by Quaternary stress patterns in the Southern Apennines (Italy). Tectonophysics 230, 199–210.

Ippolito, F., Ortolani, F., Russo, M., 1973 - Struttura marginale tirrenica dell'Appennino campano: reinterpretazione di dati di antiche ricerche di idrocarburi. Mem. Soc. Geol. Ital. 12, 227–250.

Jolivet, L., Faccenna, C., D'Agostino, N., Fournier, M., Worrall, D., 1999. The kinematics of back-arc basins, examples from the Tyrrhenian, Aegean and Japan Seas. In: Mac Nill, C., Ryan, P.D. (Eds.), Continental TectonicsGeological Society, London, Special Publications, vol. 164, pp. 21–53.

Kastens, K., Mascle, J., Auroux, C., Bonatti, E., Broglia, C., Channell, J., Curzi, P., Emeis, K.C., Glacon, G., Asegawa, S., Hieke, W., Mascle, G., McCoy, F., McKenzie, J., Mendelson, J., Muller, C., Rehault, J.P., Robertson, A., Sartori, R., Sprovieri, R. and Tori, M., 1988 - ODP Leg 107 in the Tyrrhenian Sea: insights into passive margin and back-arc basin evolution. Geol. Soc. Am. Bull., 100, 1140–1156.

Kastens, K.A., Mascle, J., 1990 - The geological evolution of the Tyrrhenian sea: an introduction to the scientific results of ODP Leg 107. In: Kastens, K.A., et al., (Eds.), Proc. ODP, Sci. Results 107, 3–26.

Knott S.D. & Turco E. (1991) - Late Cenozoic kinematics of the Calabrian Arc. Tectonics, 10, 1164-1172.

Krstic, N., Stancheva, M., 1990 - Ostracods of Eastern Serbia and Northern Bulgaria with notices on a Northern Turkey assemblage and some Mediterranean assemblages. In: Nevesskaja, L.A., Marinescu, F., Sokac, A., Jambor, A. (Eds.), "Pl1 Pontien", Jugosl. Akad Wissenschaft Verlag, Zagreb-Beograd, pp. 753–786

Lavecchia G., 1987 – The Tyrrhenian-Appennines system : structural setting and seismotectogenesis. Tectonophysics, Vol. 147, 263-296

Locardi, E., 1982 - Individuazione delle strutture sismogenetiche dall'esame della evoluzione vulcano-tettonica dell'Appennino e del Tirreno. Memorie della Societa` Geologica Italiana, 24, 569–596.

Malinverno, A., Ryan, W.B.F., 1986 - Extension in the Tyrrhenian sea and shortening in the Apennines as results of arc migration driven by sinking of the lithosphere. Tectonics, 5, 227–245.

Mantovani, E., Albarello, D., Tamburelli, C., Babbucci, D., 1996 - Evolution of the Tyrrhenian basin and surrounding regions as a result of the Africa–Euroasia convergence. J. Geodynamics 21 (1), 35–72.

Mascle, J., Rehault, J.P., 1990 - A revised seismic stratigraphy of the Tyrrhenian sea: implications for the basin evolution. In: Kastens, K.A., et al., (Eds.), Proc. ODP, Sci. Results 107, 617–636.

Mattei, M., Cipollari, P., Cosentino, D., Argentieri, A., Rossetti, F., Speranza, F., Di Bella, L., 2002 -The Miocene tectono-sedimentary evolution of the southern Tyrrhenian Sea: stratigraphy, structural and palaeomagnetic data from the on-shore Amantea basin (Calabrian Arc, Italy). Basin Res. 14, 147–168.

Milia, A., Torrente, M.M., 1999 - Tectonics and stratigraphic architecture of a peri-Tyrrhenian halfgraben (Bay of Naples, Italy). Tectonophysics 315, 301–318

Mitchum, R.M., Vail, P.R., Sangree, J.B., 1977 - Seismic stratigraphy and global changes of sea level; Part 6, stratigraphic interpretation of seismic reflection patterns in depositional sequences. In: Payton, C.E. (Ed.), Seismic Stratigraphy— application to hydrocarbon exploration, Am. Assoc. Pet. Geol. Mem 26, 117–133.

Molinari Paganelli, V., 1977 - Ostracofauna messiniana ipoalina rinvenuta nella Formazione a Colombacci (F 291, Pergola, Marche, Italia). Boll. Serv. Geol. Ital. 96, 343–354.

Monaco C. & Tansi C., 1992 - Strutture transpressive lungo la zona trascorrente sinistra nel versante nord-orientale del Pollino (Appennino calabro-lucano). Boll. Soc. Geol. It., 111, 291-301

Mostardini, F., Merlini, F., 1986 - Appennino centro-meridionale. Sezioni Geologiche e Proposta di Modello Strutturale. Mem. Soc. Geol. Ital. 35, 177–202

Moussat, E., Rehault, J.P., Fabbri, A., 1986 - Rifting et evolution tectono-sèdimentaire du Bassin Tyrrhènien au cours du Neogene et du Quaternaire. G. Geol. ser. 3, 48 (1/2), 41–62

Naso G. & Tallini M., 1993 – Tettonica compressiva e distensiva nei Monti Aurunci occidentali (Appennino centrale): prime considerazioni. Geol. Rom, 29, 445-462.

Oldow, J.S.D, D'Argenio, B., Ferranti, L., Pappone, G., Marsella, G., Sacchi, E., 1993 - Large-scale longitudinal extension in the Southern Apennines contractional belt, Italy. Geology 21, 1123–1126

Pascucci, V., Merlini, S., Martini, I.P, 1999 - Seismic stratigraphy of the Miocene–Pleistocene sedimentary basins of the northern Tyrrhenian Sea and western Tuscany. Basin Res. 11, 337–356.

Patacca, E., Scandone, P.,1989 - Post-Tortonianmountain building in the Apennines. The role of the passive sinking of arelic lithospheric slab. In: Boriano, A., Bonafede, M., Piccardo, G.B., Vai, G.B. (Eds.), The Lithosfere in Italy. Atti Conv. Lincei, vol. 80, pp. 157–176

Patacca, E., Sartori, R., & Scandone, P., 1990 - Tyrrhenian basin and apenninic arcs: Kinematic relations since late tortonian times. Memoriedella Societa` Geologica Italiana, 45, 425–451.

Patacca, E., Scandone, P., Bellatalla, M., Perilli, N., Santini, U., 1992 - La zona di giunzione tra l'arco appenninico settentrionale e l'arco appenninico meridionale nell'Abruzzo e nel Molise. Studi Geol. Camerti, Vol. Spec. 1991/2, 417–441.

Roep, Th.B., van Harten, D., 1979 - Sedimentological and ostracodological observations on Messinian post-evaporite deposits of some Southeastern Spanish basins. Ann. Géol. Pays Hellen., Tome Hors, Serie 3, 1037–1044.

Robertson, A., Hieke, W., Mascle, G., McCoy, F., McKenzie J., Rehault, J.P., Sartori, R., 1990 -Summary and synthesis of Late Miocene to Recent sedimentary and paleoceano graphic evolution of the Tyrrhenian sea, western Mediterranea: Leg 107 of the Ocean Drilling Program. In: Kastens, K.A., et al., (Eds.), Proc. ODP, Sci. Results 107, 639–663

Saitto M.D., Tiberti M.M., Tozzi M., 2002 – A revision of existing data about the Cilento-Pollino shear zone (Southern Apennines) and a new contribution. Boll. Soc. Geol. It., Volume speciale n. 1, 285-293

SAMET, 1954 - Stratigraphical Log of Cellole Aurunci 1 well. Ufficio Geologico Regione Campania, Napoli

Sartori, R., 1990 - The main results of ODP Leg 107 in the frame of Neogene to Recent geology of the Peri-Tyrrhenian areas. In: Kastens, A., Mascle, K.J., et al. (Eds.), Proceedings of ODP, Scientific Results, vol. 107. Ocean Drilling Program, College Station, TX, pp. 715–730

Savelli, C., Schreider, A.A., 1991 - The opening processes in the deep Tyrrhenian basins of Marsili and Vavilov, as deduced from magnetic and chronological evidence of their igneous crust. Tectonophysics 190, 119–131.

Schiattarella M., 1998 - Quaternary tectonics of the Pollino Ridge, Calabria-Lucania boundary, southern Italy. In: Continental Transpressional and Transtensional Tectonics (edited by: R.E. Holdsworth, R.A. Strachan and J.F. Dewey). Geological Society Special Publication, 135, 341-354.

Scrocca D., Beltrando M., Peccerillo A., Mattei M., Conticelli S., Doglioni C., 2010 - Southern Apennines: structural setting and tectonic evolution. Journal of the Virtual Explorer, Electronic Edition, ISSN 1441-8142, volume 36, paper 13.

Turco E., Maresca R. & Cappadona P., 1990 - La tettonica Plio- Pleistocenica del confine calabrolucano: modello cinematico. Mem. Soc. Geol. It., 45, 519-529

Vail, P. R., R. G. Todd, and J. B. Sangree, 1977 - Seismic Stratigraphy and Global Changes of Sea Level: Part 5. Chronostratigraphic Significance of Seismic Reflections: Section 2. Application of Seismic Reflection Configuration to Stratigraphic Interpretation Memoir, 26, 99 – 116.

#### Chapter 3

# Transtensional tectonics along the southern Tyrrhenian margin: an example from the Volturno basin (central Italy)

## Misuraca M., Cosentino D., Radeff G.

#### Università degli Studi Roma Tre, Department of Sciences, Rome, Italy

#### Abstract

High penetration seismic reflection profiles enabled the reconstruction of the deep structural architecture of the Volturno Plain. Data from boreholes revealed an highly subsiding structure recording 3000m of Quaternary continental and marine deposits, resulting in a subsidence rate, once decompacted and corrected, with an average value of tectonic signature of 0,8 mm/yr. The area is located at the boundary between Central and Southern Apennines and is crossed by the N120° striking Cilento-Pollino shear zone and the NNE-SSW striking Ortona-Roccamonfina tectonic line. Releasing bends, structural inversion and normal listric faults were displayed by seismic profiles enabling the reconstruction of the main principal displacement zones (PDZs) active in Pleistocene times. The results are compatible with the regional stress field distribution, pointing out a NW-SE stretching direction for early-middle Pleistocene. Local permutations among the o1 and o2 axes, as suggested by previous authors, produced an interrelated strike-slip regime, resulted in NNE-SSW and E-W normal to oblique faults. This splaying system of deformations has been interpreted as the response of synthetic and antithetic planes of a main N120° left-lateral shear zone. Data from boreholes and seismic profiles have also allowed the individuation, calibration and the 3D modeling of 5 main depositional sequences for the last 1.8 My.

## 1. Introduction

The most recurrent discontinuities observed along the inner domains of the southern portion of the Apennine tectonic belt seem to have a N120°±10° striking direction, as observed in the Sorrento and in the Cilento-Pollino region (Turco et al., 1990; Capotorti & Tozzi 1991; Catalano et al., 1993; Cinque et al., 1993; Ascione & Cinque, 1996; Saitto et al., 2002; Caiazzo et al., 2006). The kinematic of these faults responded to distinctive rifting episodes with different orientations affecting the margin from late Miocene to Pleistocene times (Bartole et al., 1984; Moussat et al., 1986; Sartori, 1990; Cinque et al., 1993; Hyppolite et al., 1994; Ferranti et al., 1996; Caiazzo et al.,

2006). The initial rifting phases mainly followed an E-W trending direction (Bartole et al., 1984; Sartori, 1990; Hyppolite et al., 1994b; Giordano et al., 1995; Caiazzo et al., 2006) producing a mainly dip-slip component on the NW-SE striking faults. Starting from Early Pleistocene a tectonic event with a NW-SE stretching direction, creating major NE-SW normal faults (Moussat et al., 1986; Sartori, 1990; Hyppolite et al, 1994b; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006), induced on such planes mainly horizontal offsets (Cinque et al., 1993; Saitto et al., 2002; Caiazzo et al., 2006). This latter rifting phase led to the formation, in the Campanian sector, of coastal half grabens hosting infilling successions of up to 3000 m in thickness. This is the case of the Volturno basin, recording at least 3 km of Quaternary deposits. Intense subsidence rates of up to 2-3 mm/yr were recorded by deep well data pointing out to an early-middle Pleistocene starting age in this sector (Ippolito et al., 1973; Bigi et al., 1983; Brancaccio et al., 1991; Aiello et al., 1997; Brocchini et al., 2001). During this tectonic event stress permutations among the  $\sigma$ 1 and  $\sigma$ 2 axes produced an interrelated strike-slip regime (Angelier & Bergerat, 1983), creating NW-SE left-lateral and ENE-WSW dextral transtensive faults (Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006). Records of left-lateral strike-slip activity on N120° fault planes were observed in the Cilento region, dating back to Late Pliocene times (Turco et al., 1990; Ascione & Cinque, 1996) and in the Pollino Ridge, dissecting also lower-middle Pleistocene deposits (Monaco & Tansi, 1992; Schiattarella, 1998). The strike-slip activity on such planes has been ascribed to a broader geodynamical setting, related to the tectonic disjunction between Southern Apennines and a Calabrian arc retreating towards SE (Knott & Turco, 1991; Cinque et al., 1993; Doglioni et al., 1996) . In this tectonic scenario, a high penetration seismic reflection still uninterpreted grid, located on the highly subsiding Volturno basin, could help to unravel the complex tectono-sedimentary evolution of the sector. The identification of structural styles by high penetration seismic profiles is a difficult procedure that may lead to mistakes in the interpretation. Map distributions of seismically detected structures represents a fundamental tool in order to directly observe the geometric pattern of the main faults and establish the regional stress field distribution.

## 2. Geologic framework

The forelandward migration of the compressional front of the Apennine orogenic system was accompanied, from early Miocene, by an eastward migration of the related Tyrrhenian back-arc extension (Malinverno and Ryan, 1986; Boccaletti et al., 1990; Kastens and Mascle, 1990; Butler et al., 1992 Patacca et al., 1992b; Carmignani et al., 1995; Robertson and Grasso, 1995; Cipollari et

al., 1999; Catalano et al., 2000). The initial stages of the rifting phases acted mainly on low angle normal faults (LANF) (Barchi et al., 1998; Jolivet et al., 1999; Mattei et al., 2002; Brogi, 2004). On a second stage higher normal faults dissected the previous structures, shaping the present day morphology of the margin (Sartori, 1990). The opening of the Tyrrhenian basin, from Late Serravalian (Mattei et al., 2002) until early Pleistocene, gave rise to several extension-related basins (Boccaletti et al., 1990; Patacca et al., 1992a,b; Cipollari et al., 1999), younging their age following an E-W oriented stretching direction and, in domain of hyper-extension in the inner sectors, migrating also along the axis of the chain (Hyppolite et al., 1994b; Ferranti et al., 1996). The rifting phases allowed the formation of basins repeatedly submerged and exposed and the deposition of sedimentary sequences, whose thickness was a consequence of the sedimentation and subsidence rates. Their stratigraphical architecture resulted from a complex interplay between tectonics, eustatism and sedimentary influx. The Campania Plain, located in the Tyrrhenian side of Central-Southern Apennines, is the result of extension-related processes started, in that area, in lower Pleistocene times (Brancaccio et al., 1991; Ippolito et al., 1973). The plain has a very flat morphology and is bounded, in its northern sector, respectively to the NE and to the NW by the Maggiore Mts and by the Massico Mts Meso-Cenozoic carbonatic and siliciclastic successions (Fig.1).



**Figure 1**: Structural sketch map of central-southern Apennines. Location of the study area. Legend: 9) Pleistocene-Holocene alluvial deposits; 8) Quaternary volcanic deposits; 7) Early Pleistocene conglomeratic deposits; 6) Upper Messinian gypsum-bearing clays; 5) Late Tortonian siliciclastic foredeep deposits; 4) Langhian-Serravalian *Calcari a Briozoi e Litotamni* Fm; 3) Cretaceous shallow water limestones; 2) Jurassic shallow water limestones and dolomites; Triassic dolomites and limestones; A) undifferentiated faults.

The compressional wave affected the study area during Late Tortonian, as revealed by the foredeep deposits outcropping on the Volsci Range, in the Latina Valley (Cipollari and Cosentino, 1995; Cipollari et al., 1995; Cosentino et al., 2003) and on the Caserta Mts (Pescatore & Sgrosso, 1973; Sgrosso, 1988). Evidence of the Messinian syn-rift deposition widely described in the Garigliano basin in the Gaeta Gulf (Cipollari and Cosentino, 1995; Cipollari et al., 1995; Cosentino et al., 2006) have not been found in the study area, highly subsiding and intensely deformed by the final stages of the Tyrrhenian extension. Several authors suggested a period of emersion of the area, presumably standing above sea level during Pliocene times (Brancaccio et al., 1991; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006). The deepest boreholes drilled in the Plain recorded only Quaternary continental and marine deposits, not reaching any older deposits. The development of several palaeosurfaces suggested an intense erosion taking place during Pliocene times (Ascione

and Cinque, 1999; Caiazzo et al., 2006). Starting from Early-Middle Pleistocene severe subsidence, reaching values of 2mm/y in the Volturno basin, associated with strike-slip faulting affected the entire area, as reported by data from literature (Ippolito et al., 1973; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006). During this tectonic event Early-Middle Pleistocene NE-SW trending normal faults (Moussat et al., 1986; Sartori, 1990; Hyppolite et al, 1994b; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006), bounding to the South the Massico Mts (Billi et al., 1997) defined the half graben geometry of the Volturno Basin. Evidence of a strike-slip regime interrelated with this mainly extensional tectonic event have been detected in the bay of Naples, as reported by Milia and Torrente (2003), describing Quaternary E-W trending left-lateral faults and in the Garigliano basin, where Giordano et al. (1995) reported the same left-lateral E-W trending faults cutting early Pleistocene deposits (*Congl. Di Minturno Auctt*). Volcanic deposits related to different districts, interbedded with marine and continental deposits and arranged in an asymmetric half graben geometry, constitute the bulk of the Volturno basin succession (Ippolito et al., 1973; Aprile & Ortolani, 1978; Mariani and Prato, 1988; Brancaccio et al., 1991; 1995; De Vivo et al., 2001; Santangelo, 2010).

## 3. Methods

The approach here used for the reconstruction of the tectono-stratigraphic evolution of the Volturno basin consisted in the interpretation of 19 high penetration seismic reflection profiles which have been kindly provided by ENI S.p.A (Fig.2).



**Figure 2**: Location of the onshore interpreted seismic grid (19 seismic sections) and of the two deep wells used for the calibration (Castelvolturno 001 and 003). In yellow we have represented the six high penetration profiles here presented.

Boreholes data proveining from deep well Castelvolturno1 (SAMET 1954) have been used for the seismic calibration. Pattern of deformations and structural styles affecting the basin have been reconstructed and identified with exploration data. Map distribution of seismically detected structures and overstepping geometries in interpreted strike-to oblique slip faults, enabled the reconstruction of a kinematic model. Starting from the CV1 deep borehole stratigraphic description, we have calculated cumulative subsidence, then decompacted and later partitioned in sedimentary loading and tectonic components (Allen & Allen, 2005). The decompaction technique followed the procedure described by Sclater & Christie (1980), with a stratigraphic succession divided in five intervals with specific surface porosity and grain size density parameters. Once decompacted the sedimentary column, the backstripping procedure impose paleobathymetric and eustatic corrections (Miller et al., 2005), in order to calculate, assuming local Airy isostasy, the tectonic component. Tectonic subsidence was calculated using equation (A) from Steckler & Watts (1978):

$$Y = S\left\{\left(\frac{\rho_m - \rho_s}{\rho_m - \rho_w}\right) - \Delta_{SL}\frac{\rho_w}{\rho_m - \rho_w}\right\} + [W_d - \Delta_{SL}]$$

where Y is the tectonic subsidence, S is the total thickness of the sedimentary column corrected for compaction,  $\rho_m$ ,  $\rho_s$ ,  $\rho_w$  are mantle, mean sedimentary column and water densities,  $W_d$  is the paleo-water depth, and  $\Delta_{SL}$  is the paleo-sea level relative to the present. The mean sedimentary column density ( $\rho_s$ ) was obtained using sediment grain density from Sclater & Christie (1980).

## 4. Presentation of seismic data

## 4.1. <u>Seismic units</u>

Seismo-stratigraphical observations enabled the recognition of a total of 8 acoustic units in the Volturno basin (Fig.3). The poor seismic resolution of these high penetration profiles doesn't allow a good acoustic characterization for the first seismic unit (*Unit1*). The lower boundary of *Unit 1* (*a horizon*) marks an abrupt change in the acoustic response. High to medium amplitude wavy reflectors, characterizing the first seismic unit, pass down to low amplitude reflectors with a good lateral continuity (*Unit2*). Crossing an highly irregular *b horizon* we pass down to acoustic *Unit 3* characterised by parallel medium to high amplitude reflectors. Onlap and toplap terminations have been observed within this seismic unit which shows a wedge shaped external configuration. The top of the fourth unit seem to be cutted by an articulated c horizon. *Unit 4* displays thick

hummocky high amplitude sometimes diverging seismic reflectors, showing mound type and Vshaped structures onlapping on *d Horizon*. Parallel reflection configurations with a medium to high amplitude and frequently eteropic reflectors characterize *Unit 5*, displaying onlap terminations on *e horizon* and erosionally truncated at its top. The below unit (*Unit 6*) is characterised by hummocky sub-parallel medium amplitude reflections, locally creating V-shaped structures. The top of this acoustic unit seems to be cutted, showing also in this case toplap terminations. *Horizon f* separates *Unit 6* and *Unit 7*, the latter showing downlap and onlap terminations above the *g Horizon*. The amplitude is medium to low and the reflectors have a wavy to parallel reflection configuration. The last seismic unit observed (*Unit 8*) shows low continuity and medium to high amplitude disrupted reflectors.



#### Volturno Plain 001

Figure 3: Volturno Plain 001 profile has been here used to show all the 8 acoustic units recognized.

The bottom unit is marked at its top by two high amplitude reflectors frequently truncated and marking a transition to a different acoustic domain. The others seismic units above the lowest one show a more continuous reflection configuration. Above *Unit 8*, displayed in all seismic profiles, non-depositional and erosional features influencing the stacking of depositional units, locally rearranged the pattern described above.

## 5. Seismic calibration

A revised stratigraphy, based on studies of microfaunal associations, proposed by Ippolito et al. (1973) pointed out for Castelvolturno 1 and Castelvolturno3 deep wells (3001m and 3006m respectively) a Pleistocene record for all the reached depths. From Ippolito et al. (1973) sedimentological descriptions of CV1 (Fig.4), the first change in lithology occurs at 75m of depth, where from a continental environment the deposits pass down to an infralittoral system until

200m depth. The successive interval, from 200 to 700m, has been referred to a deeper marine depositional environment by the same author. In seismic reflection profiles the shift from continental to marine conditions is marked by an abrupt change in acoustic impedance from high to low amplitude reflectors. Here we have located our a horizon, separating seismic Unit 1 from Unit 2. From 75 to 700m the acoustic signal remain basically invariated, allowing us to calibrate Unit 2 with a major sequence, passing, bottom to top. from deep marine to shallow water conditions, marking in this way a transgressive-regressive (T-R) cycle. Sand and shale characterize the following interval, starting from 700m to 1000m, referred by the author to an infralittoral depositional environment. Then we find 240m of deeper marine sediments passing down, at 1240m of depth, to coastal deposits until a depth of 1720m. From 700m (b horizon) to 1720 reflectors show a similar acoustic signal with medium to high amplitude reflectors. This interval calibrated Unit3, interpreted as a major sequence, referred also in this case to a T-R cycle. Strong acoustic impedance contrasts mark this sand-shale alternations within the sequence. From 1720 to 2150m of depth conglomerates, coal and sands characterize the delta plain composing that interval. Such deposits calibrate Unit 4 bounded at its top by c horizon. Seismically observed Vshaped structures characterizing this unit have been interpreted as fluvial incisions affecting an emerged plain. An infralittoral depositional system constitute the following 350m. From thick hummocky reflectors characterizing Unit 4, crossing d horizon, we pass down to a parallel reflection configuration, characterising seismic Unit 5. Acoustic unit 4 and 5 have been interpreted as sub-units composing a major depositional sequence corresponding to a T-R cycle. From 2500 to 2840m of depth delta plain conditions describe the deposits found in that interval. An infralittoral depositional environment characterize the last 161m recorded by the well. From 2500m (e horizon) we have a thick subparallel reflection configuration (Unit 6) passing down, across f horizon to parallel and medium to low amplitude reflections. Unit 6 and 7 correspond also in this case to sub units composing a major depositional sequence related to a T-R cycle. A calibration for seismic g horizon and Unit 8 is not possible by the well stratigraphy. CV1 and CV3 have not reached the acoustic substratum. Data from literature suggest that the Campania Plain was above sea level during Pliocene times (Brancaccio et al., 1991; Cinque et al., 1993). In this scenario Unit 8 could represent the Meso-Cenozoic substratum and *g* horizon could be interpreted as a polygenic surface recording the uplift responsible for the emersion, later reworked by the onset of a Pleistocene transgression. Hyalinea balthica, a benthic foraminifera whose FCO dates back to

Calabrian age, costrain the first 2153m of the well. The remaining 848m have been attributed to Pleistocene for the lacking of species possibly attributing to Pliocene times (Ippolito et al., 1973).

**CASTELVOLTURNO 001** 

SEISMIC PROFILE CV1



**Figure 4**: Seismic calibration: a comparison between Castelvolturno 001 lithologic description offered by Ippolito (1973) and the observed seismic reponse on Volturno Plain 003 profile. Legend: 1) depositional sequence A; 2) depositional sequence B; 3) depositional sequence C; 4) depositional sequence D; 5) depositional sequence E.

## 5.1. Depositional sequences and age constraints

Starting from early Pleistocene, deep seismic profiles in the Volturno basin recorded bottom to top 5 depositional sequences (E, D, C, B, A respectively) corresponding to 5 major T-R cycle. *Hyalinea balthica* has been found until a depth of 2153m in CV1. The first occurrence of this benthic foraminifera in the CV1 well coincides with the infralittoral deposits characterizing the base of the fourth T-R cycle (depositional sequence D). The fifth cycle, lacking clear Pliocene marker species

and characterized by a microfaunal association remained almost invariated with the exception of the occurrence of *Hyalinea balthica* in the cycle deposited above, has also been attributed to a Pleistocene age by Ippolito (1973). The author referred all the succession to a Pleistocene age in a period in which the Plio-Pleistocene boundary coincided with the base of the Italian Calabrian Stage, in the Vrica section, at 1.8 My (e.g. Tauxe et al., 1983). The fifth and the fourth transgressive-regressive cycles showed similar depositional environments and have been attributed both to a Pleistocene age. If we interpret the occurrence of *Hyalinea balthica* at 2153 m of depth, at the base of the fourth T-R cycle as its FCO we have an age costrain of 1.5 My for the infralittoral deposits, marking the transition to the *Hyalinea balthica* zone (Fig.5).



CASTELVOLTURNO 001

SEISMIC PROFILE CV1

**Figure 5**: Presumed age constraints: in the lower part of seismic D sequence, the interpreted FCO of Hyalinea balthica give an age constraint of 1.5 My. The volcanic layer reported by Ippolito (1973) at about 1400 m depth, in our C sequence, should correspond to the onset of the Roccamonfina volcanic activity, giving an age constraint of 630ky. The shift from marine to continental and transitional deposits, observed at the transition from A to B sequence, should correspond to the OIS 8.

E depositonal sequence, following this interpretation, should be related to a post-1.5, pre-1.8My biozone. Moving up into the succession, the following possible age constraint corresponds to the first pyroclastic layer reported by the borehole stratigraphy. Located at the bottom of C sequence, this volcanic layer could represents the onset of the Roccamonfina volcanic activity, dating back to 630 ky (Radicati di Brozolo et al., 1988; Giordano et al., 1995). Finally, the shift from marine to continental and transitional deposits (75m), recorded by the well stratigraphy and closing the stratigraphical succession, should be attributed to the emersion of the area caused by the OIS 8 related sea level lowstand (Santangelo, 2010). The author conducted a study finalized to the characterization of the superficial succession of the Campania Plain, dating and analysing an 80 m-long sediment correlated by the author, with the high sea level stand of OIS 7 (210-190 ka, Martinson et al., 1987). Following this interpretation at the bottom of the 75m recorded by CastelVolturno1 well, the erosional surface separating lagoonal and continental deposits, to a marine condition should have been caused by the OIS 8 related sea level lowstand.

## 6. Structural analysis

Here we present 5 of the 19 seismic reflection profiles interpreted in the Volturno Plain. The first section described corresponds to a WNW-ESE striking profile, identified as Volturno Plain 002 (Fig 6). The acoustic substratum seems to be affected by a major ESE dipping normal fault, controlling the deposition of E and D sequences, revealing a wedge like external form. Digitisations observed in the stratal reflections kinking against the above mentioned SE dipping normal fault and mirroring in this way an inversion in the polarity of the structural relief, start to appear from C sequence. After the deposition of the above lying B sequence, minor normal faulting individuates smaller scale graben and half graben structures, deforming both C and B sequences. The same wedging external geometries have been revealed by section Volturno Plain 003, a NNW-SSE oriented profile (Fig.7). Stratal reflections, mainly in D sequence, showed a diverging internal pattern and an increased thickness moving towards a SE dipping discontinuity. Castelvolturno 001 deep well, located on the Volturno river mouth, calibrates this seismic profile, revealing in this area the maximum thickness reached by the Pleistocene cover. Moving towards the northeastern side of the plain, seismic profile Volturno Plain 006 (Fig.8), NE-SW oriented, shows a step-like deformation affecting the acoustic substratum, as testified by SW dipping normal faults, downthrowing the individuated blocks and creating space for the infilling sequences C,B and A. A similar step-like deformations have been revealed by seismic profiles Volturno Plain 004 and 005 showing SSE dipping normal faults affecting the acoustic substratum. These E-W trending faults define the wedging geometry observed for D sequence on Volturno Plain 005 profile (Fig.9). An acoustically invisible body lying above the before mentioned E-W trending faults, with a conical external shape has been revealed by this profile, enabling also the observation of interdigitations between stratal reflection belonging to depositional sequence C and the intrusive body internal layering. In seismic profile 004 (Fig.10) two oppositely dipping E-W striking normal faults, accompanied by an upward spreading system of deformations, individuate a downthrown block. The northernmost SSE dipping normal fault observed on this profile, individuated also in seismic section 005, seems to affect seismic line Volturno Plain 006, revealing a more articulated trending direction (fig.11).



**Figure 6**: Presentation of Volturno Plain 002 seismic profile: a SE dipping normal fault deforms the acoustic substratum and seems to affect also E and D sequences, as revealed by their wedge like external form. Digitisations in the stratal reflections, kinking against the above mentioned SE dipping normal fault and mirroring in this way an inversion in the polarity of the structural relief, start to appear from C sequence. After the deposition of the above lying B sequence, minor normal faulting individuates smaller scale graben and half graben structures, deforming both C and B sequences.

Volturno Plain 003

NNW

SSE



**Figure 7**: presentation of Volturno Plain 003 profile: a diverging internal pattern and an increased thickness moving towards a SE dipping discontinuity has been revealed by D sequence. Castelvolturno 001 deep well calibrates this seismic profile, revealing in this area the maximum thickness reached by the Pleistocene cover.

## Volturno Plain 006



**Figure 8**: presentation of Volturno Plain 006 seismic profile: a step-like deformation seems to affect the acoustic substratum, as testified by the observed SW dipping normal faults, downthrowing the individuated blocks and creating space for the infilling sequences C, B and A.



**Figure 9**: presentation of Volturno Plain 005 seismic profile: SSE dipping normal faults affect the acoustic substratum and define the wedging geometry observed for D sequence . An acoustically invisible body, with a conical external shape, has been here revealed. Interdigitations between stratal reflection belonging to depositional sequence C and the intrusive body internal layering have been here observed.

## Volturno Plain 004



**Figure 10**: presentation of Voltuno Plain 004 profile: ) two oppositely dipping normal faults, accompanied by an upward spreading system of subsidiary deformations, individuate a downthrown block. Deformations seem to affect the acoustic substratum, C and B sequences.



Figure 11: the northern SE dipping normal fault observed on profiles 004 and 005, has been traced also on 006 seismic sections, suggesting a roughly E-W trending direction.

## 6.1. <u>Timing of tectonic events</u>

The 3D modelling of the boundaries of each T-R cycle enabled the recognition of the structural lineaments responsible for the deformations observed in the depositional sequences. The timing of tectonic events has been revealed by morphobathymetric maps showing relative lows and highs, resulted by the modelling of the successive boundaries of the seismically detected sequences and by the external and internal configurations of the displayed sequences. *G horizon*, separating the Quaternary infillings from the acoustic deformed substratum, is an erosional surface predating the onset of the early Pleistocene marine transgression. It is a polygenic surface recording multiple tectonic events and represents the base of the progressive onlap of each successive depositional sequence. Locally it corresponds to the lower boundary of the bottom E sequence whose maximum thickness is reached in the coastline sectors of the basin, with a maximum depocenter elongated in a NE-SW striking direction (Fig. 12).



**Figure 12**: 3D modelling of the bottom E sequence whose deposition seems to have been controlled by a NE-SW striking discontinuity, as also observed on seismic section Volturno Plain 002.

The thickness of the sequence increase towards NW with a deposition controlled by a NE-SW normal fault bounding to the south the Massico Mt. The activity of this fault also affected the deposition of sequence D (Fig.13) showing diverging reflections against the master fault in its upper reflections and displaying a wedge like external form. With an early Calabrian age constraint resulted by the FCO of *Hyalinea balthica* in the upper part of the D sequence, the previous E

sequence should be dated back to a pre-Emilian chronostratigraphical substage, probably correlated to a Santernian chronostratigraphical stage. This interpretation attributes a normal component on the activity of the fault at least in early Pleistocene times. The geometry of the C sequence lower boundary reveal a more complex articulation.



**Figure 13**: geometry of the B sequence lower boundary : as already observed for the modelling of the bottom of E sequence, the bottom of D depositional sequence displays a NE-SW trend, increasing in thickness toward NW.

The morphobathymetric low is always located in the same position with a NE-SW striking direction, but deformations, as observed in seismic profiles, start to migrate also in an inland direction (Fig.14).



Figure 14: geometry of the C sequence lower boundary : deformations start to migrate in an inland direction with C sequence.

WNW-ESE normal to oblique faults locally create downthrown blocks and negative flower structures. Tectonic inversions start to occur with the deposition of C sequence where a new oblique component superimpose on NE-SW previous normal faults. In the upper stratal reflections of this sequence we observe kinks against the NE-SW master fault bounding the Mssico Mt to the South, with a structural relief mirroring in an opposite relief the low originated by the previous dip-slip component (Harding, 1985). Volcanic bodies have been seismically detected within this sequence. A pyroclastic layer recorded in Castelvolturno 1 deep well, interpreted here as the first evidence of the onset of the Roccamonfina volcanic activity, revealed for this sequence a middle Pleistocene age constraint. A volcanic body deforming the stratal reflections of this sequence has also been displayed. This interpretation seems to be in accordance with data from literature. An early-middle Pleistocene transtensional associated with a magmatic event has been recognized by previous authors (Caiazzo et al., 2006; Cinque et al., 1993). The lower boundary of the B sequence is less articulated and more uniform (Fig.15); it represents the base on which a deep middle-Pleistocene marine transgression occurred. Little kinks in the lower stratal reflections of B sequence against a NE-SW main fault, allowed us to infer that tectonic inversions influenced also the lower part of this depositional sequence. WNW-ESE en echelon basin sidewall faults arrays are particularly evident in the modelling of this sequence boundary (Fig.16).



**Figure 15**: geometry of the B sequence lower boundary: it represents the base on which a deep middle-Pleistocene marine transgression occurred. Deformations related to WNW-ESE oriented basin sidewall faults result particularly evident in the modelling of this sequence boundary.



Figure 16: Evidence of basinal sidewall faults on the modelled lower boundary of B sequence.

## 6.2. <u>Geometry of the basin</u>

The 3D modeling of the base of the Quaternary infillings revealed an asymmetric rhombic shaped relative low with a single depocentre and basin margins characterized by an half-graben geometry. Mapping the distribution of structural features observed on seismic profiles we have reconstructed the direction of the main lineaments influencing the evolution of the basin. The main boundaries defining the basin geometry are NE-SW, WNW-ESE and NW-SE striking (Fig. 17).



**Figure 17**: 3D modelling of the base of the Quaternary infillings revealing an asymmetric rhombic shaped relative low. The main discontinuities observed correspond to NE-SW, E-W and NW-SE planes.

Kinks and digitisations in Pleistocene reflections have been observed on NE-SW normal faults planes, indentifying inversions in the polarity of the structural relief (Harding, 1985) mainly recorded in C sequence. These striking planes recorded maximum throws of more than 3000 meters, individuating the depositional depocenter of the Volturno Plain. Minor WNW-ESE striking normal faults with maximum offsets of 1000 meters have been also displayed. Two major overstepping upward spreading WNW-ESE normal faults individuated, in section VP 004, a downthrown region. A splaying system of subsidiary faults with smaller scale offsets of the order of hundreds of meters, accompanied the deformation of the above defined structure. An acoustically invisible body with a conical external shape, has been observed above a WNW-ESE normal faults. Onlaps on its flanks and interdigitisation of marine deposits related to the third depositional sequence, with the low amplitude reflectors constituting the internal pattern of this acoustic body have been seismically observed. Finally, NW-SE trending normal faults dipping southwestward, deformed with a step-like geometry the base of the infillings sequences, affecting the upper part of the Quaternary sediments and apparently coinciding with the lateral tips of the above mentioned WNW-ESE normal faults.

#### 6.3. <u>Structural interpretation</u>

NE-SW and WNW-ESE planes have been interpreted as antithetic and synthetic planes (Fig.18, a e b) of a main left-lateral NW-SE Principal Displacement Zone (PDZ), cropping out in the Monti di Caserta area (Bravi et al., 2006), bounding to the NE the Campana Plain and observed in the south in the Cilento region (Turco et al., 1990; Capotorti & Tozzi 1991; Catalano et al., 1993; Cinque et al., 1993; Ascione & Cinque, 1996; Saitto et al., 2002). PDZs are typically segmented and are constituted by segments, coinciding with synthetic Riedel R shears and antithetic conjugated R' Riedel shears, thus connected by oversteps. R' shears are generally oriented at high angle, typically at 75°, i.e.  $90^\circ - \left(\frac{\varphi}{2}\right)$ , clockwise to a dextral and anticlockwise to a sinistral main fault plane. WNW-ESE to NW-SE normal faults coincided with basinal sidewall faults (Fig.19) terracing and defining the NE margin of the basin (Sugan et al., 2014). The synformal area observed in the overstepping region of WNW-ESE normal faults has produced an upward spreading splaying system of deformations interpreted as a negative flower structure. Positive structural inversions, representing opposite changes in the observed relief and possibly induced, in this case, by the superposition of a strike-slip motion on a dip-slip component (Harding, 1985), should represent the interpretation of reflections digitisations of upper Pleistocene sediments, kinking against a

major NE-SW normal to oblique fault. High subsidence rates affect basin associated to strike-slip tectonics. The Volturno basin show 3km of Quaternary deposits, resulting in a subsidence rate, once decompacted and corrected, with an average value of tectonic signature of 0,8 mm/yr. Values greater than 0.5 mm/yr are generally associated to strike-slip basins, thus our interpretation for the Volturno Plain coincides with a pullapart basin, formed in the stepover region of two NW-SE left-lateral faults, probably representing the northern tips of the Pollino-Cilento shear zone.



**Figure 18**: Synthetic structural map and stress field distribution. NE-SW and WNW-ESE planes have been interpreted as antithetic and synthetic planes (Fig.18, a e b) of a main left-lateral NW-SE Principal Displacement Zone (PDZ).



Figure 19: Evidence on the Volturno basin of en echelon basin sidewall faults and synthetic structural sketch, resulted from the kinematic reconstruction.

#### 7. Subsidence curves and seismic interpretation

Observing the trendlines of both the cumulative and tectonic subsidence curves it is immediately visible that they are composed by two distinctive stages (Fig.20). the basin seems to subside very rapidly, slowing later on and then, in Middle Pleistocene, a renewed subsidence seems to occur. Strike-slip basins backstrip curves show features of both rift-type and foreland-type basins (Watts et al., 1982), thus they may be particularly difficult to discriminate by analysing tectonic subsidence curves (Allen& Allen, 2005). Seismic interpretation pointed out an initial dip slip motion followed by a subsequent strike slip component. The produced curves display two distinctive concave up segments. The second stage has an age constraint of 630 ky, observed in

the third of the five sequences seismically detected. Sequence C displayed one of the greatest thickness among the interpreted sequences and revealed tulip structures and positive structural inversions, deformations correlatable with a transtensional regime. Both The tectonic signature values for the two distinctive segments and the total average value for tectonic subsidence pointed out values greater than 0.5 mm/yr, which referring to the Allen & Allen (2005) classification could be correlated with strike-slip basins.



**Figure 20**: The produced curves display two distinctive concave up segments. The second stage has an age constraint of 630 ky, observed on sequence C, revealing in seismic profiles tulip structures and positive structural inversions, evidence of a transtensional regime.

## 8. Conclusions

Structural and stratigraphical observations, combined with a sequence boundaries modelling and calculation of tectonic signatures for the subsidence of the basin, enabled us to depict the Pleistocene tectono-sedimentary evolution of the plain. We have distinguished five depositional

sequences corresponding to distinctive transgressive-regressive cycles lying on top of an acoustic substratum probably coinciding, as suggested from literature (Brancaccio et al., 1991; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006; Santangelo, 2010), with a Meso-Cenozoic carbonatic and siliclastic succession. The observation of major structural discontinuities on seismic profiles and a mapping procedure on the analysed grid, first enabled to display the structural pattern of deformations affecting the basin. The external geometry of the interpreted sequences and their internal stratal pattern revealed the period of activity of such faults and the superposition of distinctive vertical and lateral movements. A strong dip-slip component on major NE-SW normal faults seems to control the deposition of E and D bottom sequences, constrained to an early Pleistocene by the FCO of Hyalinea balthica in the upper part of D sequence. Starting from C sequence, deformations start to migrate in an inland direction. A pyroclastic layer recorded in Castelvolturno 1 deep well, interpreted here as the first evidence of the onset of the Roccamonfina volcanic activity, revealed for this sequence a middle Pleistocene age constraint. Negative flower geometries observed in the overstepping region of WNW-ESE normal to oblique faults, igneous intrusions and kinkings on NE-SW striking faults, reflecting an opposite structural relief among such planes, have been observed within this sequence. This interpretation seems to be in accordance with data from literature suggesting the onset of an early-middle Pleistocene transtensional event in the area (Caiazzo et al., 2006; Cinque et al., 1993). Kinkings and digitisations on NE-SW normal to oblique faults have been displayed in the lower stratal reflections of B sequence, enabling us to infer that tectonic inversions influenced also the lower part of this depositional sequence, bounded at its top by the erosional surface created by the MIS 8 related sea level low stand. NE-SW and WNW-ESE planes, controlling the geometry of the basin, have been interpreted as antithetic and synthetic planes of a main left-lateral NW-SE Principal Displacement Zone (PDZ), cropping out in the Monti di Caserta area (Bravi et al., 2006), bounding to the NE the Campana Plain and observed in the south in the Cilento region (Turco et al., 1990; Capotorti & Tozzi 1991; Catalano et al., 1993; Cinque et al., 1993; Ascione & Cinque, 1996; Saitto et al., 2002). The 3D modeling of the base of the Quaternary infillings revealed an asymmetric rhombic shaped relative low with a single depocentre and basin margins with half-graben geometries. This configuration has been interpreted as an intermediate stage in the continuum model of pull-apart evolution proposed by Mann (1983). Bruno et al. (2000) proposed a similar interpretation for the formation of Volturno Basin, suggesting that the depression should have been referred to a pull-apart basin or, alternatively to a graben structure, originated by the action of WNW-ESE normal faults. Thus, the Volturno basin, showing 3km of Quaternary deposits, resulting in a subsidence rate, once decompacted and corrected, with an average value of tectonic signature of 0,8 mm/yr, has been interpreted as a pullapart basin formed in the stepover region of two NW-SE left-lateral faults. High tectonic subsidence rates affect basins associated to strike-slip tectonics, associated to values greater than 0.5 mm/yr (Allen&Allen, 2005).

## References

Aiello G., Budillon F., de Alteris G., Di Razza O., De Lauro, M., Ferraro L., Marsella E., Pelosi N., Pepe F., Sacchi M., Tondelli R., 1997 - Seismic exploration of the peri-Tyrrhenian basins in the Latium– Campania offshore. 8th Workshop of the ILP Task Force "Origin of Sedimentary Basins", Palermo (Italy), 7–13 June 1997, 22–23.

Allen P.A. & Allen J.R., 2005 - Basin Analysis: Principles and Application. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, Uk. 774, pp. 549. 773

Angelier, J., Bergerat, F., 1983 - Systèmes de contrainte et extension intracontinentale. Bull. Cent. Rech. Explor. Prod. Elf-Aquitaine 7, 137–147.

Aprile F. & Ortolani F. (1978) - Nuovi dati sulla struttura profonda della Piana Campana. Boll. Soc. Geol. It., 97, 591-608.

Ascione A. & Cinque A., 1996 - L'età della tettonica trascorrente nell'Appennino campano: il contributo dell'analisi geomorfologica. Studi Geologici Camerti, vol. spec. 1995(2), 41-52.

Ascione, A., Cinque, A., 1999. Tectonics and erosion in the long term relief history of the Southern Apennines (Italy). Z. Geomorphol., Suppl.Bd 118, 1–16.

Bartole, R., Savelli, D., Tramontana, M., Wezel, F.C., 1984 - Structural and sedimentary features in the Tyrrhenian margin off Campania, southern Italy. Mar. Geol. 55 (2/2), 163–180

Bigi, G., Coli, M., Cosentino, D., Parotto, M., Praturlon, A., Sartori, R., Scandone, P., Turco, E. (Eds.), 1983 - Structural Model of Italy. C.N.R., Progetto Finalizzato Geodinamica, Roma

Billi A., Bosi V., De Meo A., 1997 – Caratterizzazione strutturale del rilievo del M. Massico nell'ambito dell'evoluzione quaternaria delle depressioni costiere dei fiumi Garigliano e Volturno (Campania settentrionale). Il Quaternario, 10 (1), 15-26.

Boccaletti M., Ciaranfi N., Cosentino D., Deiana G., Gelati R., Lentini F., Massari F., Moratti G., Pescatore T., Ricci Lucchi F., Tortorici L., 1990 - Palinspastic restoration and paleogeographic reconstruction of the peri-Tyrrhenian area during the Neogene. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclim. Palaeoecol, 77, 41-50.

Brancaccio L., Cinque A., Romano P., Rosskopf C., Russo F., Santangelo N., Santo A., 1991 -Geomorphology and neotectonic evolution of a sector of the Tyrrhenian flank of the Southern Apennines (Region of Naples, Italy). Z. Geomorphol., Suppl.Bd 82, 47–58.

Brancaccio L., Cinque A., Romano P., Rossokopf C., Russo F. & Santangelo N., 1995 - L'evoluzione delle pianure costiere della Campania: geomorfologia e neotettonica. Mem. Soc. Geogr. It., 53, 313-337.

Bravi S., Civile D., Martino C., Putignano M.L., 2006 - La struttura da interferenza nei carbonati mesozoici della dorsale di Monte Fellino (Appennino Campano). Boll. Soc. Geol. It., 125, 105-116.

Brocchini D., Principe C., Castratorti D., Laurenzi M.A. & Gorla L. (2001) - Quaternary evolution of the southern sector of the Campania Plain and early Somma-Vesuvius activity: insights from the Trecase 1 well. Mineral. and Petrol., 73, 67-91.

Brogi A., 2004 - Assetto geologico del nucleo di Falda Toscana affiorante nel settore occidentale del Monte Amiata (Appennino Settentrionale): strutture pre- e sin- collisionali relitte preservate durante lo sviluppo della tettonica distensiva post-collisionale. Boll. Soc. Geol. It., 123, 443-461.

Butler R.W.H., Grasso M., La Manna F., 1992. Origin and deformation of the Neogene–Recent Maghrebian foredeep at the Gela Nappe, SE Sicily. J. Geol. Soc. Lond. 149, 547–556

Caiazzo C., Ascione A., Cinque A., 2006 - Late Tertiary–Quaternary tectonics of the Southern Apennines (Italy): New evidences from the Tyrrhenian slope. Tectonophysics, 421, 23–51.

Capotorti F., Tozzi M., 1991 – Tettonica trascorrente nella penisola sorrentina. Mem. Soc. Geol. It., 47, 235-249.

Carmignani L., Decandia F.A., Disperati L., Fantozzi P.L., Lazzarotto A., Liotta D., Oggiano G., 1995 -Relationships between the Tertiary structural evolution of the Sardinia–Corsica– Provençal Domain and the Northern Apennines. Terra Nova 7, 128–137

Catalano S., Monaco C. & Tortorici L. (1993) - Pleistocene strikeslip tectonics in the lucanian appennine (southern Italy). Tectonics, 12(3), 656-665.

Catalano R., Franchino A., Merlini S., Sulli A., 2000 – Central western Sicily structural setting interpreted from seismic reflection profiles. Mem.Soc. Geol. Ital. 55, 5-16.

Cinque A., Patacca E., Scandone P. & Tozzi M., 1993 – Quaternary kinematic evolution of the Southern Apennines. Annali di Geofisica, 36 (2), 249-260.

Cipollari P., Cosentino D., 1995 - Miocene unconformities in Central Apennines: geodynamic significance and sedimentary basin evolution. Tectonophysics, 252, 375–389.

Cipollari, P., Cosentino, D., Parotto, M., 1995 - Modello cinematico strutturale dell'Italia centrale. Studi Geol. Camerti,Vol. Spec. 1995/ 2, 135–143.

Cipollari P., Cosentino D., Gliozzi E., 1999 - Extension- and compression-related basins in central Italy during the Messinian Lago-Mare event. Tectonophysics, 315, 163–185.

Cosentino D., Cipollari P., Pipponzi G., 2003 - Il sistema orogenico dell'Appennino centrale: vincoli stratigrafici e cronologia della migrazione. Studi Geol. Camerti, Numero Spec. 85–99.

Cosentino D., Federici I., Cipollari P., Gliozzi E., 2006 - Environments and tectonic instability in central Italy (Garigliano Basin) during the late Messinian Lago–Mare episode: New data from the onshore Mondragone 1 well. Sedimentary Geology, 188–189, 297–317

De Vivo B., Rolandi G., Gans P.B., Calvert A., Bohrson W.A., Spera F.J. & Belkin H.E. (2001) - New constraints on the pyroclastic eruptive history of Campania volcanic Plain (Italy). Mineral. and Petrol., 73, 47-65.

Doglioni C., Tropeano M., Mongelli F. & Pieri P., 1996 - Middle-late Pleistocene uplift of Puglia: an «anomaly» in the apenninic foreland. Mem. Soc. Geol. It., 51, 101-117.

Ferranti L., Oldow J.S., Sacchi M., 1996 - Pre-Quaternary orogeny-parallel extension in Southern Apennines belt, Italy. Tectonophysics, 260, 325–347.

Giordano G., Naso G., Trigari A., 1995 - Evoluzione tettonica di un settore particolare del margine tirrenico: l'area al confine tra Lazio e Campania, prime considerazioni. Studi Geolog. Camerti, Vol. spec. 1995/2, 269–278.

Harding T. P., 1985 – Seismic characteristics and identification of negative flower structures, positive flower structures and positive structural inversion. The American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 69 (4), 582-600.

Hippolyte, J.-C., Angelier, J., Roure, F., 1994b - A major geodynamic change revealed by Quaternary stress patterns in the Southern Apennines (Italy). Tectonophysics 230, 199–210

Ippolito, F., Ortolani, F., Russo, M., 1973 - Struttura marginale tirrenica dell'Appennino campano: reinterpretazione di dati di antiche ricerche di idrocarburi. Mem. Soc. Geol. Ital. 12, 227–250.

Jolivet L., Faccenna C., D'Agostino N., Fournier M., Worrall D., 1999 - The kinematics of back-arc basins, examples from the Tyrrhenian, Aegean and Japan Seas. In: Mac Nill, C., Ryan, P.D. (Eds.), Continental TectonicsGeological Society, London, Special Publications, vol. 164, pp. 21–53.

Kastens K.A., Mascle J., 1990 - The geological evolution of the Tyrrhenian sea: an introduction to the scientific results of ODP Leg 107. In: Kastens, K.A., et al., (Eds.), Proc. ODP, Sci. Results 107, 3–26.

Knott S.D. & Turco E., 1991 - Late Cenozoic kinematics of the Calabrian Arc. Tectonics, 10, 1164-1172.

Malinverno A., Ryan W.B.F., 1986 – Extension in the Tyrrhenian sea and shortening in the Apennines as results of arc migration driven by sinking of the lithosphere. Tectonics, 5, 227-245.

Mann P., Hempton M.R., Bradley D.C., and Burke K., 1983 – Development of pull-apart basins. Journal of Geology, 91, 529-554.

Mariani, M., Prato, R., 1988. I bacini neogenici del margine tirrenico: approccio sismico stratigrafico. Mem. Soc. Geol. It. 41, 519–531

Martinson D.G., Pisias N.G., Hays J.D., Imbrie J., Moore T.C. & Shackletone N.J. (1987) - Age dating and the orbital theory of the Ice Ages: Development of a high-resolution 0 to 300,000 yr chronostratigraphy. Quat. Res., 27, 1-29

Mattei M., Cipollari P., Cosentino D., Argentieri A., Rossetti F., Speranza F., Di Bella L., 2002 - The Miocene tectono-sedimentary evolution of the southern Tyrrhenian Sea: stratigraphy, structural and palaeomagnetic data from the on-shore Amantea basin (Calabrian Arc, Italy). Basin Res. 14, 147–168.

Milia A. & Torrente M. M., 2003 – Late Quaternary volcanism and transtensional tectonics in the Bay of Naples, Campanian continental margin, Italy. Mineralogy and Petrology, 79, 49-65

Miller, K.G., Kominz, M.A., Browning, J.V., Wright, J.D., Mountain, G.S., Katz, M.E., Sugarman, P.J., Cramer, B.S., Christie-Blick, N., Pekar, S.F., 2005. The Phanerozoic record of global sea-level change. Science 312, 1293–1298.

Monaco C. & Tansi C., 1992 - Strutture transpressive lungo la zona trascorrente sinistra nel versante nord-orientale del Pollino (Appennino calabro-lucano). Boll. Soc. Geol. It., 111, 291-301.

Moussat E., Rehault J.P., Fabbri A., 1986 - Rifting et evolution tectono-sèdimentaire du Bassin Tyrrhènien au cours du Neogene et du Quaternaire. G. Geol. ser. 3, 48 (1/2), 41–62

Patacca E., Scandone P., Bellatalla M., Perilli N., Santini U., 1992° - La zona di giunzione tra l'arco appenninico settentrionale e l'arco appenninico meridionale nell'Abruzzo e nel Molise. Studi Geol. Camerti, vol. spec. 1991/2, 417–441.

Patacca E., Sartori R., Scandone P., 1992b - Tyrrhenian Basin Apenninic Arcs: kinematic relations since late Tortonian times. Mem. Soc. Geol. Ital., 45, 425–451.

Robertson A.H.F., Grasso M., 1995. Overview of the Late Tertiary–Recent tectonic and palaeoenvironmental development of the Mediterranean region. Terra Nova 7, 114–127.

Pescatore T., Sgrosso I., 1973 - I rapporti tra la piattaforma campanolucana e la piattaforma abruzzese-campana nel casertano. Boll. Soc. Geol. Ital. 92, 597–608

Radicati di Brozolo F., Di GIrolamo P., Turi B., and Oddone M., 1988 - 40Ar-39Ar dating of K-rich ROcks from the Roccamonfina volcano, Roman Co-magmatic region, Italy. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta, 52, 1435-1441.

Saitto M.D., Tiberti M.M., Tozzi M., 2002 - A revision of existing data about the Cilento-Pollino shear zone (Southern Apennines) and a new contribution. Boll. Soc. Geol. It., Volume speciale n. 1 (2002), 285-293.

SAMET, 1954 - Stratigraphical Log of Cellole Aurunci 1 well. Ufficio Geologico Regione Campania, Napoli Sartori, R., 1990 - The main results of ODP Leg 107 in the frame of Neogene to Recent geology of the Peri-Tyrrhenian areas. In: Kastens, A., Mascle, K.J., et al. (Eds.), Proceedings of ODP, Scientific Results, vol. 107. Ocean Drilling Program, College Station, TX, pp. 715–730.

Santangelo N., 2010 – Late Quaternary buried lagoons in the northern campania plain (southern Italy): Evolution of a coastal system under the influence of volcano-tectonics and eustatism. Boll. Soc. Geol.It., Vol. 129, No. 1, 156-175.

Schiattarella, M., 1998 - Quaternary tectonics of the Pollino Ridge, Calabria-Lucania boundary, southern Italy. In: Continental Transpressional and Transtensional Tectonics (edited by: R.E. Holdsworth, R.A. Strachan and J.F. Dewey). Geological Society Special Publication, 135, 341-354.

Sclater J.G., & Christie P., 1980 – Continental stretching: An explanation of the post-mid cretaceous subsidence of the central North Sea basin. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth (1978-2012), 85, 3711-3739.

Sgrosso I., 1988 - Nuovi elementi per un più articolato modello paleogeografico nell'Appennino centro meridionale. Mem. Soc. Geol. It., 41, 225-242.

Steckler M. S., & Watts A. B., 1978 - Subsidence of the Atlantic-type continental margin off New York. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 41, 1-13.

Sugan M., Wu J.E.L., MccLay K., 2004 - 3D analogue modelling of transtensional pull-apart basins: comparison with the Cinarcik basin, Sea of Marmara, Turkey. Bollettino di Geofisica Teorica ed Applicata, Vol. 55, n. 4, pp. 699-716.

Tauxe,L., Opdyke, N.D., Pasini,G. and Elmi,C., 1983 - Age of the Pliocene Pleistocene Boundary in the Vrica section, southern Italy. Nature, 304, 5922, p.125-129.

Turco E., Maresca R. & Cappadona P. (1990) - La tettonica Plio-Pleistocenica del confine calabrolucano: modello cinematico. Mem. Soc. Geol. It., 45, 519-529.
#### Chapter 4

# Late Quaternary to Holocene evolution of the northern Campania continental shelf (central, Italy)

# Misuraca M.<sup>1</sup>, Cosentino D.<sup>1</sup>, Di Fiore V.<sup>2</sup>

### 1) Università degli Studi Roma Tre, Departmente of Sciences, Rome, Italy

2) IAMC-CNR, Naples, Italy

#### Abstract

A set of high resolution seismic reflection profiles has been acquired in collaboration with the IAMC-CNR (Naples) immediately offshore the Volturno river mouth. Chirp sub-bottom sonar investigations, performed along the continental shelf, enabled the recognition of two main reflectors representing the top of the Holocene sediments and the Last Glacial Maximum (LGM) erosional surface. Morphobathymetric maps were reconstructed by the interpolation of seismically detected horizons. The morphology of the LGM revealed an antithetic oblique synclinal accommodation zone, defined by an interbasinal relative high with a NE-SW trending direction, bounded by two outward facing sets of normal faults. The observed sets of faults, cutting the seismically imaged transgressive and highstand units with very small offsets, have revealed a NNW-SSE and an ENE-WSW trending direction. The interpretation of Chirp profiles has also enabled the recognition of degassing features, displayed as vertically stacked amplitude anomalies, distributed along an ESE-WNW trending direction and affecting the seismically imaged transgressive and highstand units. Sparker profiles revealed a deeper laterally extensive acoustic turbidity front, with the same striking direction. The orientation of this front is similar to the one observed for a detected volcanic intrusion, leading us to hypothesize that intrusions may have followed an E-W trend, correlatable with the main direction of normal to obligue faults active during Quaternary times.

#### 1. Introduction

Seal by-pass systems are defined as "seismically resolvable geological features embedded within sealing sequences that promote cross-stratal fluid migration and allow fluids to bypass the pore network" (Cartwright et al, 2007). A variety of structures may occur in zones of high fluid pressure

which can be resolved, following the classification proposed by Cartwright et al. (2007), in i) fault related, ii) intrusion related and iii) pipe related. The most common seismic expressions of fluid escape features are pockmarks and pipes structures: sub-circular depressions and subvertical conduits produced by the hydraulic fracturing in conditions of high pore fluid pressure. The overpressure of clay rich gas saturated sequence may also lead to the formation of mud volcanoes, an excellent mechanism to dehydrate the overburden sequences (Cartwright et al., 2007). Different triggering factors may lead to the overpressure of subsurface gasses: 1) a strong sedimentation rate producing a rapid burial, 2) tectonic compression defining traps and preferential migration pathways, 3) storage and generation of methane in sealing sequences (Judd and Hovland, 2007). The presence of gas in shallow water has been reported by several authors for modern continental shelves (Duran et al., 2007, Mazumdar et al., 2009; Chun et al., 2012). A muddy organic-rich supply represent an important condition to promote the generation of biogenic methane (Fleischer et al., 2001), which start to occur as free gas in sediments when its concentrations exceed the methane solubility (Schubel, 1974; Abegg and Anderson, 1997). Hydrothermal fluids should also promote such kind of structures, producing columnar zones of disturbed reflections. The area is located offshore the Campania and Latium coasts where Pleistocene volcanic structures have been observed along the Pontine Archipelago and displayed as magnetic anomalies offshore the Volturno river-mouth (De Alteriis et al., 2002;2006; Aiello et al., 2011). The origin of fluid venting structures in this area should be possibly attributed either to hydrothermal fluids or to overpressure of clay and organic rich sequences. Our dataset is composed by Chirp and Sparker profiles covering the Campania continental shelf. We have observed pockmarks, pipes and mounds with their relative conduits. The different details of investigation, offered by Sparker profiles, enabled the observation of wide zones of acoustic turbidity with distinct lateral flanks and irregular top fronts. The description of the structures observed and a mapping procedure should suggest their origin and facilitate their definition following Cartwright classification.

#### 2. Geologic framework

Several studies have been performed on high resolution seismic profiles in order to define the Middle-Late Pleistocene stratal architecture and growth patterns of the Western Mediterranean margins (Alonso et al., 1990; Farrán and Maldonado, 1990; Tesson et al., 1990; Ercilla et al., 1994; Chiocci, 1994; Torres, 1995; Fraccascia et al., 2013; Ridente et al., 2012; Chiocci, 2000; Chiocci et

al., 1997; Chiocci & Orlando, 1996; Lobo et al., 2004). The Western Mediterranean margins could be considered as mainly controlled by a siliciclastic sedimentation and by a growth pattern characterized by vertically and laterally stacked progradational and aggradational units (Chiocci et al., 1997). The investigated area is located in northern Campania shelf, offshore the Volturno coastal plain (Fig.1).



**Figure 1**: :Structural sketch map of central-southern Apennines. study area corresponding to the continental shelf. Legend: 9) Pleistocene-Holocene alluvial deposits; 8) Quaternary volcanic deposits; 7) Early Pleistocene conglomeratic deposits; 6) Upper Messinian gypsum-bearing clays; 5) Late Tortonian siliciclastic foredeep deposits; 4) Langhian-Serravalian *Calcari a Briozoi e Litotamni* Fm; 3) Cretaceous shallow water limestones; 2) Jurassic shallow water limestones and dolomites; Triassic dolomites and limestones; A) undifferentiated faults; B) isobaths.

The late Quaternary succession along this sector of the margin is characterized by prograding clinostratified deposits, truncated by the youngest Wurm unconformity, recording multiple events, from the subaerial exposure of the shelf to the successive Versilian sea level rise (Aiello et al., 1978; Chiocci, 2000). Overlying the Wurm unconformity, sediments recording the latest sea level

rise, occurred from 18 ky BP to 5 ky, and the present highstand conditions, described transgressive and highstand deposits constituting a sedimentary wedge decreasing in thickness towards the shelf edge (Chappell and Shackleton, 1986; Hunt and Tucker, 1992; Amore et al. 1996; Coppa et al., 1996; Buccheri et al., 2002; D'Argenio et al. 2004; Iorio et al., 2014). Below the erosional unconformity, the middle-Late architecture of the margin is considered to be formed mainly during periods of falling sea-level and lowstands. Considering the last 550 ky, the sea has been falling for the 65% of time (Chiocci, 2000). This strongly asymmetric sea-level curve indicates how the Middle-Late Pleistocene glacio-eustatic fluctuations have been affected by slow and gradual sea-level falling stages and by short-lived rise and highstand stages (Williams et al., 1988). The Middle-Late Pleistocene glacio-eustatic fluctuations were characterized by high frequency (20-100ky) and high amplitude, ranging from +10m to- 120m (Chiocci et al., 1997). The fluctuations occurred in the same depth range, leading in this way to the erosion, during a sea level fall of the deposits related to a previous cycle. The total subsidence enabled the preservation of deposits, acting as a key factor to drive and unravel the growth of the margin (Chiocci, 2000). Since early Pleistocene the Campanian margin has been affected by an extensional tectonic regime resulting in NE-trending normal faults, SE dipping, defining asymmetrical half grabens (Moussat et al., 1986; Sartori, 1990; Hyppolite et al, 1994; Cinque et al., 1993; Caiazzo et al., 2006). The activity of these faults, with a vertical slip rate reaching also values of 4.3 mm/yr (Milia and Torrente, 2003), shaped the present day morphology of the coast defining subsiding coastal plains and uplifiting rocky promontories. Pery-tirrhenian grabens experienced intense subsidence rates during this tectonic event in which also transtensive left-lateral NW-SE faults were active (Caiazzo et al., 2006). Early–Middle Pleistocene horizontal offsets were recorded on NW–SE left-lateral strike-slip faults in the Cilento region (Cinque et al., 1993) and in the Sorrento area (Capotorti & Tozzi, 1991; Caiazzo et al., 2006). The activity of both normal and oblique faults ceased in late Quaternary with the onset of a tectonic event with a NE-SW stretching direction locally reactivating pre-existing structural planes (Caiazzo et al., 2006). NW-SE normal faults with a dip slip displacements of a few tens of meters were recognized in the Campana (Romano et al., 1994) and in the Sele Plains (Amato et al., 2011). NW-SE faults controlled the sedimentation of the 40 ky Campanian ignimbrite and affected the 12ky transgressive unit in the offshore of Naples Gulf (Milia and Torrente, 2003).

## 3. Methods and dataset

Different details of investigation on the continental margin, immediately offshore the Volturno river mouth, enabled some structural observations and the recognition of sequences with their distinctive relative stratal patterns for Late Pleistocene to Holocene deposits. A detailed description of the external and internal configurations of seismic units, imaged with different resolution and penetration parameters will follow, in order to contextualize their meaning in a more comprehensive regional stratigraphic and structural framework. The interpreted grid is composed by 60 Chirp sub-bottom profiles, with a vertical penetration of 50 meters below bottom sea level and by 3 Sparker profiles, covering the first 300 meters of the continental shelf (Fig.2).



Figure 2: Interpreted seismic high resolution grid. In green we have represented the location of Sparker profiles. In black 60 high resolution Chirp sub-bottom profiles.

A 7 meters long core (C5) has been recovered on the outer shelf (Fig.3), representing the only tool in the constraining of the more superficial sequences. Stratigraphic and magnetic susceptibility analysis were performed on C5 core by the IAMC-CNR laboratory. For deeper Sparker profiles, data from literature on glacio-eustasy driven processes for the Late Quaternary outbuilding of the margin and geometrical analogies with other Sparker profiles, interpreted by previous authors along the Latium and Campania continental shelf, have provided a guide in their interpretation.



Figure 3: Location of C5 core (7m), calibrating the more superficial sequences.

### 4. Chirp profiles

### 4.1. <u>Acoustic units</u>

Three main horizons have been observed on Chirp profiles: H1, H2, H3 (Fig.4). The deepest one, H1, has an highly irregular trend and is characterized by a strong impedance contrast marking the transition to a region, beneath it, in which the signal is not always penetrating.



Chirp profile V56

**Figure 4**: Description of acoustic features: three main horizons have been observed on Chirp profiles: H1, H2, H3. H1 has an irregular trend and mark the transition to a region, beneath it, in which the signal is not always penetrating. The above unit (Unit1), with a thickness increasing in a landward direction, is characterized by high amplitude sometimes patchy and wavy reflectors. Above H2 horizon, Unit2 reveals a seismically transparent body and clear downlap terminations on H2 reflector. Its thickness decrease towards the shelf break describing an external wedge shaped configuration.

When visible medium to low amplitude, prograding and sub-parallel oblique reflections, have been displayed below H1 reflector, revealing toplap terminations beneath it. The above unit (Unit1) is characterized by high amplitude sometimes patchy and wavy reflectors, lying on the H1 horizon. A wedge shaped external configuration has been in some cases detected, with a thickness increasing in a landward direction and revealing a sedimentation controlled, in some cases, by normal faulting (Fig.5).



Chirp profile V53

Figure 5: Chirp sub-bottom profile V53 revealed a wedge shaped external configuration for Unit 1, with a thickness increasing towards a normal fault.

Medium to high amplitude reflections constitute this acoustic unit, reaching a thickness of more than 10 ms. Its upper boundary is characterized by H2 horizon, above which we observe a seismically transparent body (Unit2), characterized by an aggrading stacking pattern and by onlap and downlap terminations. Its thickness decrease towards the shelf break describing an external wedge shaped configuration. This unit displays cylindrical reflection anomalies, constituted by a series of vertically stacked depression affecting the unit until the seabed, representing the H3 reflector. Small scale offset faults, with an almost seismically non resolvable throw, affect this acoustic unit.

## 4.2. <u>Calibration</u>

Stratigraphic and magnetic susceptibility analysis were perfomed on C5 core by the IAMC-CNR laboratory. This 7 m long core, drilled in the immediate offshore of the Volturno river mouth, recorded a Late Quaternary to Holocene succession and calibrated the observed wedging seismic units. Coarser grained deposits, with more frequent sandy intercalations, characterize the first two meters at the base of the C5 core (Fig.3). Moving upward, a dominantly pelitic succession characterize the following 5 meters sampled. Records of the last Phlaegrean Fields major eruption at 15 ky BP (Neapolitan Yellow Tuff, NYT; Deino et al. 1994), have been observed at the base of the core, calibrating in this way the latest sea level rise, occurred from 18 ky BP to 5 ky, and the present highstand conditions, describing the transgressive and highstand deposits constituting Unit1, should correspond to high-energy deposits related to transgressive intervals (Lobo et al.,2004), while low amplitude reflections of the above lying Unit2, have been interpreted as the response of an highstand muddy sequence

#### 5. Sparker profiles

#### 5.1. <u>Acoustic units</u>

A grid of three Sparker profiles (Fig.6), NE and NW trending, with a vertical resolution of about 10 meters, has been acquired in collaboration with the CNR-IAMC research group, on board of R/V Urania vessel. Eight acoustic units have been recognized on these sections (Fig.7). Bottom to top, the first seismic unit detected corresponds to an invisible acoustic body (V1 Unit). Onlaps

terminations against its flanks and differential compaction above its top have been observed on the above seismic unit V2 (Fig.8).



Figure 6: Location of SP1, SP3 and SP4 Sparker profiles.



Figure 7: Presentation of acoustic units observed on Sparker profiles (here SP1 section has been represented): a total of eight acoustic units have been recognized.



**Figure 8**: Presentation of SP3 Sparker profiles and Evidence of deformations affecting mostly seismic unit V2: onlaps terminations against V1 unit and differential compaction above the observed structure have been observed.

Its medium to low amplitude reflections are characterized by an oblique tangential internal configuration. This unit seems to be deformed and displays downlap terminations on R1 reflectors, coinciding with the top of the acoustically invisible body. V2 seismic unit revealed an aggrading prograding migration of the offlap breaks and upper toplap terminations against a reflector (R2), constituting a major erosional unconformity gently dipping in a seaward direction. Above it V3 seismic unit displayed a tabular external configuration and a stratified aggradational-

progradational internal growth pattern, revealing onlap terminations on R2 erosional unconformity. Above it a sigmoidal seismic unit V4 revealed downlap terminations on a major R3 reflector. The migration of offlap break indicates aggradational-progradational processes, with a decrease in transparency moving upsection, as observed also for V2 and V3 seismic Units. Across a generally concordant R4 reflector, we observe the transition from offlaps observed for acoustic unit V4 passing laterally to oblique parallel prograding clinostratifications (V5 acoustic Unit). Above R5 reflector, bounding at the top V5 acoustic unit, we observe onlap terminations of the upslope thinning unit characterizing seismic unit V6. A flat and gently seaward deeping reflector (R6), as already pointed out, cuts along the observed profiles almost all the imaged units. This erosional horizon produces toplap terminations on the mostly laterally stacked V3, V4,V5, and V6 seismic units. Wavy and high amplitude reflectors lie above it and describe a lenticular body increasing in thickness in a landward direction and with an undulating upper boundary (V7 acoustic unit). On this irregular acoustic reflector (R7,) downlap terminations of a wedging acoustic body (V8), characterized by low amplitude reflections, have been displayed.

#### 5.2. Interpretation

Lacking a clear datum to calibrate our seismic sections, geometrical and seismic facies analogies with other Sparker profiles interpreted on the Latium margin enabled a preliminary interpretation. Observations on clinoform geometry and analysis of the internal motif and external configurations displayed by each individual sequence, provided a tool to recognize cycles of relative changes in sea level. Following the criteria proposed by Ridente et al., (2012): 1) seaward converging oblique tangential clinoforms have been referred to highstand sea level conditions, 2) oblique parallel distal foresets seemed to be representative of falling stage phases and 3) units thinning towards the shelf-edge, with seaward diverging clinoforms, have been attributed to low stand sea level conditions. Bottom to top, seismic unit V1 has been interpreted as an intruded igneous body correlated with the E-W trending volcanic structure reported by De Alteriis et al. (2006) in that area. On the basis of its internal prograding oblique tangential configuration and as suggested by its aggrading-prograding growth pattern, we have interpreted the above sealing sequence V2 as an Highstand System Tract (HST). The unit seems to be deformed by the intruded body, emplaced about 0.7 My ago (De Alteriis et al., 2006). As testified by the upper V2 toplap terminations, an erosional nature has been recognized for R2 reflector, revealing the occurrence of a major sea level fall. The above lying tabular V3 unit, revealed in the same way coastal aggradation processes.

Moving upward, a strong decrease in transparency has been observed for its upper reflections, testifying a coarsening upward trend (Chiocci, 2000). Its internal configuration and the observed trend suggested its interpretation as an HST. Clear downlap terminations on the below lying and above described HST, revealed the evidence of time lapses, probably induced by another dramatic sea level fall. R3 reflector has been thus interpreted as a subaerial erosion surface later reworked by the subsequent sea level rise. Above it, the aggrading prograding internal pattern revealed by seismic Unit V4 lead to identify it as an HST. The subsequent falling stage phase has been recorded by the oblique parallel clinostratified deposits constituting the FSST, corresponding in this case to V5 seismic unit. Above it, the wedge shaped V6 seismic unit, in our interpretation should correspond to a Lowstand System Tract (LST). The R6 erosional surface, producing toplaps on the previously laterally stacked seismic units should represent the ravinement surface, reworking the previous R5 erosional surface, above which lies the V7 seismic unit, interpreted as a Transgressive System Tract (TST), recording the Versilian marine transgression. Closing the observed succession the V8 seismic unit has been interpreted as a record of the actual sea level highstand.

#### 5.2.1. Age constraints

Chiocci (2000) interpreted a large number of seismic high resolution profiles on the Latium margin, pointing out major Late Pleistocene key horizons, consisting in erosional surfaces developed during glacio-eustatic lowstands. An analogy in the stacking pattern and on seismic facies between a Sparker profile interpreted by Chiocci (2000) offshore Civitavecchia and our Sparker profile SP1 has been recognized. The author recognized two main erosional surfaces (U1 and U2 surfaces), correlated with the most extremes glacioeustatic sea level falls, corresponding to MIS 16 and MIS12 (600 ky and 450 ky respectively). Such dramatic events should have been recorded also in the southern sectors of the margin. A preliminary correlation with the R2 and R3 erosional surfaces, evidencing major time lapses, has been here hypothesized (Fig.9).



**Figure 9**: preliminary correlation of R2 and R3 erosional surfaces with MIS 16 and MIS12. R5 and R6 reflectors should correspond to the lower sequence boundary of the latest Late Quaternary-Holocene sequence, later reworked by the successive Versilian sea level rise.

The described clinostratified Late Quaternary deposits building out the margin, following the interpretation of the author, are cutted by the youngest last glacial Wurm erosional surface, recording the last eustatic lowstand and the successive sea level rise (Aiello et al., 1978; Chiocci, 2000). A correlation with the seismically detected R5 and R6 erosional surfaces should be pointed out, representing the lower sequence boundary of the latest Late Quaternary-Holocene sequence, later reworked by the successive sea level rise. The Middle Quaternary to Holocene succession of the margin has been preliminary revealed by the interpretation of Sparker profiles, pointing out the presence of four 4<sup>th</sup> order depositional sequences. The absence of a clear and precise calibration for Sparker profiles represents a big obstacle in the interpretation and allow just to propose working and preliminary hypothesis.

#### 6. Structural pattern

#### 6.1. <u>Structures revealed by Chirp profiles</u>

Structural features have been individuated and mapped from the observation of Chirp sub bottom profiles covering the first 0,15 seconds of the Campania continental shelf. With an average velocity of 1500 m/s the maximum depth observed correspond to 112 meters, thus the seismically detected structural pattern involves the Late Quaternary to Holocene highstand and transgressive units. Normal faults cutting the transgressive and highstand units with very small offsets (less than 10 meters) have been displayed by acoustic profiles. A 3D modelling of the LGM erosional surface has been elaborated (Fig.10) and the resulted surface revealed a relative high, bounded by two sets of outward facing faults. In the northern side of the interpreted grid NW dipping normal

listric faults formed a downthrown region in an half-graben geometry, with a tilted block configuration (Fig.11). In the southeastern side of the grid ENE-WSW trending, SE dipping normal faults define a relative morphological low (Fig.12). An interbasinal relative high, with a NE-SW trending direction, defined by two outward facing normal faults, separates these two topographical lows. Isolated randomly oriented faults affecting only the Holocene mud-rich highstand units have been also observed.



Figure 10: 3D modelling of the last glacial maximum erosional surface (H1 reflector).



Figure 11: NW dipping normal listric faults on V50 profile, forming a downthrown region in an half-graben geometry, with a tilted block configuration.

# Chirp profile V36



**Figure 12**: SE dipping normal fault revealed by Chirp profile V36. V stacked amplitude anomalies, affecting H1, H2 and H3 reflectors, have also been observed on this section.

# 6.1.1. Structural interpretation

Extended domains are usually segmented in fault systems whose terminations and geometrical transitions have been extensively studied in the past (Gibbs, 1984; Bosworth, 1985; Rosendahl, 1987; Larsen, 1988; Faulds et al., 1990; Crone and Haller, 1991; De Polo et al., 1991; Peacock and Sanderson, 1994; Rowland and Sibson, 2001; Gawthorpe and Hurst, 1993; Trudgill and Cartwright, 1994). Fault linkages, in this typically asymmetrical segmentation, (Anderson, 1977; Brown et al., 1980) are generally ascribed to two main families of structures responsible for displacement transfer, known as accommodation and transfer zones (Gibbs, 1984). Accomodation zones correspond to areas in which soft and distributed deformation occur at the overlapping fault terminations (Rosendahl, 1987; Morley et al. 1990; Faulds et al., 1990; Faulds and Varga, 1998; Rowland and Sibson, 2001). Hard-linkage processes, in response to an increased displacement (Peacock & Sanderson, 1991), should be invoked for the formation of transfer zones, defined as areas of discrete deformations, with a very strong strike-slip component (Gibbs, 1984; Lister et al., 1986; Walsh and Watterson, 1991; McClay et al., 1998; Gawthorpe and Hurst, 1993). The observed Late Quaternary to Holocene deformations revealed a structural setting constituted by two opposite facing set of faults (Fig.13), separated by a relative topographic high, located in the overstepping region.



**Figure 13**: The observed Late Quaternary to Holocene deformations revealed a structural setting constituted by two opposite facing set of faults (Fig.13), separated by a relative topographic high, located in the overstepping region.

No strike-slip component have been seismically detected and the accommodation zone seems to have a slightly oblique orientation with respect to the NE-SW extension trending direction, revealed by the main NNW-SSE trending set of faults. Faulds and Varga (1998) proposed a general classification for accommodation zones, in which the antithetical ones have been furtherly subdivided on the basis of the inward or outward facing of faults and on the orientation of the zone of transfer with respect to the regional  $\sigma$ 3. Following this classification the structure observed seems to be an antithetic oblique synclinal accommodation zone (fig.14).



Figure 14: The detected structure, analysing its geometrical feature, should correspond to an antithetic oblique synclinal accommodation zone, following Faulds and Varga (1998) classification.

#### 6.2. <u>Structures revealed by Sparker profiles</u>

A coverage of 3 Sparker profiles enabled some structural observations for the first 300 meters of the northern Campania continental shelf. An E-W trending acoustic invisible body, corresponding to acoustic unit V1, has been seismically detected. Onlaps against its flanks and a draping morphology over its top with stratal reflections revealing different thickness, suggested differential compaction above the seismical invisible structure. Deformation on the above lying sequence and an acoustic invisible response, testify in our opinion, the presence of a growing and intruding volcanic structure. The occurrence of volcanic intrusions offshore the Volturno river mouth has been proposed and documented by previous authors (Bruno et al., 2000; De Alteriis et

al., 2002;2006; Aiello et al., 2011), carrying out seismic and magnetic prospecting in this area. An E-W elongated and flat topped structure giving an intense magnetic anomaly (De Alteriis et al., 2006), has been recognized by this author, interpreting the detected body as a volcanic edifice and constraining the emplacing of the edifice in middle Pleistocene.

# 7. Description of venting structures

Vertically stacked depressions, conduits, sediment mobilization processes and intruded acoustic transparent bodies have been observed on Chirp high resolution profiles. A mapping procedure on the seabed, corresponding to the Chirp detected H3 reflector (Fig.15), modelled throughout the seismic grid, enabled structural and stratigraphical observations.





Two classes of seabed craters have been detected by the observation of an high resolution bathymetric map elaborated at CNR-IAMC of Naples (unpublished data): sub-circular-elliptical and elongated depressions. Most of the sub-circular craters displayed by Chirp sub-bottom profiles seem to have smaller dimensions and to be aligned in a NE-SW trending direction. The elongated ones, displaying a bigger diameter, seem to be aligned on a NW-SE direction (Fig.16). These vertical stacked V-shaped depression mostly occur in zones where the muddy highstand unit reach nearby its maximum thickness. Chirp profiles enabled also the observation of mound chaotic deposits with sub-vertical low amplitude anomalies and convex up distorted reflections (Fig.17).



Mounds

• Sub-circular elliptical depressions

**Figure 16**: sub-circular-elliptical and elongated depressions. Most of the sub-circular craters displayed by Chirp sub-bottom profiles seem to have smaller dimensions and to be aligned in a NE-SW trending direction. The elongated ones, displaying a bigger diameter, seem to be aligned on a NW-SE direction.

# Chirp profile V37



**Figure 17**: Chirp profile V37: a strike section showing mound chaotic deposits with sub-vertical low amplitude anomalies (in the left side) and convex up distorted reflections, interpreted as vertically stacked pockmarks (on the right side).

Sparker profiles located in the same area enabled the observation of deeper seismic units, displaying zones of acoustic turbidity with distinct lateral fronts and irregular and diffuse top fronts (Fig.18). Vertical anomalies in the reflections have been observed with Chirp profiles in the first 50 m of the sedimentary succession while in a more deep domain, laterally extensive pocket of low amplitude anomalies have been observed on Sparker profiles (Fig 19). The seismic expression of these features is an acoustic blanking marked at the top by high amplitude disrupted reflectors (Fig.20). These zones seem to occur at a certain subsurface depth, ranging from 140 to 200 meters and are located in most cases below the more superficial vertically stacked anomalies have been observed on Chirp sub-bottom profiles. A mapping procedure for craters and depressions and a comparison of it with the acoustic blanking zones revealed by Sparker profiles, suggested that the majority of them occurred above these laterally extensive zones of acoustic anomalies or in their immediate vicinities (Fig.21). The bulk of these manifestations seems to occur at the edge of the continental shelf with a NW-SE striking direction. A distinct lateral flank

interrupts the acoustic turbidity in an inland direction while moving offshore the flank seem to parallel the slope morphology with a less sharp lateral front. Their top front is irregular and diffuse with a saw tooth profile occurring in the prograding Late Quaternary sequences.



Figure 18: Sparker profile SP1: in black we have traced zones of acoustic turbidity with distinct lateral fronts and irregular and diffuse top fronts profiles.





Figure 19: Sparker profile SP3: laterally extensive pocket of low amplitude anomalies, traced in black.

Figure 20: Sparker profile SP4: irregular top front with a sawtooth profile and distinct lateral fronts, traced in black.



Elongated depressionsMounds

# Sub-circular elliptical depressions

Figure 21: modelled seabed (TWT surface) and location of pockmarks, observed on Chirp profiles and mapping of laterally extensive zones of acoustic turbidity observed on Sparker profiles (in black we have traced SP1, SP3 and SP4 Sparker profiles).

## 7.1. Interpretation of fluid escape structures

Andresen (2012) proposed a classification based on the geometric pattern of fluid venting structures in order to define their origin. The structures observed could be related to 1) focused vertical fluid flow, 2) sediment remobilization processes and 3) laterally extensive fluid flow. The seismically detected V-shaped depression could be interpreted as collapse structures induced by the hydraulic fracture and fluid driven erosion in conditions of high pore fluid pressure. These fluid venting structures, induced by focused vertical fluid flow, are very good timing indicators since they constrain the expulsion process to the reflection on which they occur (Judd and Hovland, 2007). Mounds on the seabed linked to deep vertically stacked low amplitude anomalies could be interpreted as diapiric structures due to sediment remobilization processes, like mud volcanoes. Laterally extensive fronts of acoustic turbidity could be correlated to fluids or free gas accumulation zones, occurring in certain stratigraphic intervals or at certain depths. Gas front morphologies have been explained in literature as pressure and bottom water temperature

related (Chun et al., 2012) or by sedimentary facies association and permeability related (Martínez-Carreño and García-Gil, 2013). The low penetration of the interpreted profiles does not allow the definition of the origin of these venting structures, preventing the individuation of a stratigraphic source for these fluids or gasses. Pockmarks and pipes in Chirp sub bottom profiles have been detected in zones where the thickness of the muddy Holocene highstand units almost reached its maximum thickness, suggesting a direct link between sedimentary loading and overpressure. Mud-volcanoes are considered to be a very good tool in dewatering over-pressured mud-rich sequences (Cartwright et al., 2007). Pockmarks and overpressure are also closely linked as they are considered to be the first stage in the evolution of a mud volcano. Over-pressure of organic and clay rich sedimentary sequences could be a logical assumption to explain such features. Free-gas in shallow environments have been recorded in many continental shelves all over the world (Fleischer et al., 2001; Chun et al., 2012; Martínez-Carreño and García-Gil, 2013). Biogenic methane should be produced in deltaic areas where clay-rich sequences are supported with a constant apport of organic matter. Nevertheless, the presence of igneous intrusions have been directly observed and also reported by previous authors (Bruno et al., 2000; De Alteriis et al., 2002;2006; Aiello et al., 2011). Vertical and lateral expressions of fluid flow may also have an hydrothermal origin. The presence of thermal fluids could also have an effect in decreasing methane solubility allowing the formation of gas bubbles and fluid venting structures (Chun et al., 2012). These superficial venting structures, occurring in the first 50 meters of the sedimentary succession, seem to be related to the laterally extensive acoustic turbidity pockets, defining a WNW-ESE domain for these manifestations. More coarse-grained sediments, in comparison with the Holocene highstand units, constitute the prograding sequences composing the margin. Such sediments could host the fluids providing good conditions for their lateral migration (Martínez-Carreño and García-Gil, 2013).

#### 7.2. <u>Pipe, fault or intrusion related structures?</u>

Identified pockmarks, occurring along an WNW-ESE trending domain, display an array distribution and seem to be mostly aligned on an NE-SW trending direction, matching the submarine channels crossing the shelf and the slope area. Buried palaeo channels have a coarser grained lithology if compared to the muddy sequences which represent the bulk of the margin, constituting in this way a preferred migration pathway (Haskell et al., 1997; Gay et al., 2006a,b; Pilcher and Argent, 2007). The fluid escape structures are mostly confined to the slope area probably indicating slumping processes reducing lithostatic pressure of fluid or gas saturated stratigraphic intervals (Foland et al., 1999; McNeill et al., 1998; Sultan et al., 2004; Pilcher and Argent, 2007). Another observed distribution for aligned pockmarks is a NW-SE trending direction, matching the striking of normal fault planes affecting the Late Quaternary Holocene sequences. These NW-SE features board the outer shelf in the immediate vicinity of the slope, suggesting also instability processes of the outer-shelf/slope area. The key factor to understand the origin of such structures, detected on Chirp profiles, comes from the observation and interpretation of Sparker profiles. The superficial venting structures are located above a main acoustic turbidity zone detected by the observation of more deep Sparker profiles (Fig.22).





**Figure 22**: The superficial venting structures (pockmarks field) are located above a main acoustic turbidity zone, detected by the observation of more deep Sparker profiles. In red we have represented the intruded igneous body and in grey the fluid/gas pocket, revealing a similar roughly E-W trending direction. In pale blue we have represented the highstand unit and in dark blue the transgressive unit.

Vertical funnel shaped and downward tapering anomalies, interpreted as conduits and pipes, located immediately below the main detected pockmark field, come from a deeper fluid/gas pocket and have been individuated in the southeastern area of the interpreted grid. The main trending direction of this front is similar to the one observed for the detected volcanic intrusion, also if its location seems to be shifted southward. This observation could suggest that volcanic intrusions may have followed an E-W trend, correlatable with the main direction of normal to oblique faults active during Quaternary times. below this laterally extensive gas pocket another E-W volcanic intrusion should have triggered these fluid venting structures. The following assumption should be in this way that these fluid escape features are intrusion related structures. Igneous intrusions produce on the hosting sedimentary sequences thermal effects and cause the expulsion of great volumes of pore-waters (Grapes etal. 1973; Einsele 1982; Krynauw et al., 1988).

#### 8. Conclusions

The Late Quaternary-Holocene evolution of the northern Campania continental shelf was affected by igneous intrusions, degassing features and minor faulting. Deformations, mainly observed on Chirp high resolution seismic profiles, defined a structure characterized by two opposite facing set of faults, separated by a relative topographic high located in the overstepping region. Outward facing NW-SE normal listric faults and ENE-WSW oppositely dipping normal faults identified a structural horst, cutting the transgressive Late Quaternary to Holocene units. This interbasinal ridge, displayed as a belt at the overlapping fault systems terminations, described a roughly NE-SW oriented zone, accommodating the deformations. Following the definition proposed by Faulds and Varga (1998), identifying accommodation zones as structures, in regions of overlaps between separated systems of faults, accommodating deformations and using as a guide the geometrical classification proposed by the author for such zones, we interpreted the observed deformational pattern as the result of an antithetic oblique synclinal accommodation zone. Systems of NNW-SSE and ENE-WSW faults defining the structure, should correspond to fault planes reactivated in a different kinematic context, as revealed by their trending direction, matching the orientation of the most important discontinuities controlling the Tertiary to Quaternary evolution of the area (Moussat et al., 1986; Hyppolite et al., 1994; Giordano et al., 1995; Ferranti et al., 1996; Ascione and Cinque, 1996; Cinque et al. 2000; Caiazzo et al., 2006). Major Late Quaternary to Holocene NW-SE normal faults with quite modest displacements have been reported by several authors (Hyppolite et al., 1994; Milia, 1999; Cinque et al., 2000; Milia & Torrente, 2003; Caiazzo et al.,

2006;). A NE trending extension direction has been revealed by the distribution of deformations, coinciding with an already recognized (Hyppolite et al., 1994; Caiazzo et al., 2006) extensional regime characterized by a NE–SW trending  $\sigma$ 3 axis. The interpretation of Chirp profiles enabled the recognition of degassing features, displayed as vertically stacked amplitude anomalies affecting the Trasgressive and highstand units observed on high resolution seismic sections. Pockmarks, conduits and mounds, distributed along an ESE-WNW trending direction, have been interpreted as the superficial response of a deeper laterally extensive acoustic turbidity front with the same striking direction. Sparker profiles enabled the observation of this laterally extensive fluids and gas pocket revealing distinct lateral fronts and an irregular top one, displaying conduits and pipes affecting the Late Quaternary to Holocene units. The main trending direction of this front is similar to the one observed for the detected volcanic intrusion, resulting in an E-W trending flat topped edifice seismically invisible, deforming the above lying sealing sequence which displays pinch out terminations against its flanks. This observation could suggest that the observed fluid escape features are intrusion related structures. Igneous intrusions trigger thermal effects on the hosting sedimentary sequences and produce the expulsion of pore-waters volumes (Grapes etal. 1973; Einsele 1982; Krynauw et a[. 1988). Volcanic intrusions may have followed an E-W trend, correlatable with the main direction of normal to oblique faults active during Quaternary times.

#### References

Abegg, F., Anderson, A.L., 1997 - The acoustic turbid layer in muddy sediments of Eckernförde Bay, Western Baltic: methane concentration, saturation and bubble characteristics. Marine Geology, 137, 137–147.

Aiello E., Bartolini C., Gabbani G., Rossi S., Valleri G., Certini C., and Lenaz R., 1978 – Studio della piattaforma continentale medio-tirrenica per la ricerca di sabbie metallifera: da Capo Linaro a Monte Argentario. Bollettino della Società Geologica Italiana, 97, 495-525.

Aiello G., Cicchella A.G., Di Fiore V., Marsella E., 2011 - New seismostratigraphic data of the Volturno Basin (northern Campania, Tyrrhenian margin, Southern Italy): implications for tectonostratigraphy of the Campania and Latium sedimentary basins. Ann Geophys, 54(3), 265–283.

99

Alonso, B., Field, M.E., Gardner, J.V. and Maldonado, A., 1990 - Sedimentary evolution of the Pliocene and Pleistocene Ebro margin, northeastern Spain. Mar. Geol., 95, 313-331.

Amato V., Aucelli P.P.C., Cinque A., D'Argenio B., Di Donato V., Russo Ermolli E., Pappone G., Petrosino P., Rosskopf C.M., 2011 - Holocene palaeo-geographical evolution of the Sele river coastalplain (Southern Italy): new morpho-sedimentary data from thePaestum area. Il Quaternario, 24, 5–7.

Amore F.O., Ciampo G., Di Donato V., Esposito P., Pennetta M., Russo Ermolli E., Staiti D., Valente A., 1996 - A multidisciplinary study of Late Pleistocene-Holocene sediments of the Gaeta bay continental shelf. Il Quaternario, 9(2), 521–532.

Andresen, K.J., 2012. Fluid flow features in hydrocarbon plumbing systems: what do they tell us about the basin evolution? Marine Geology, 332–334, 89–108.

Anderson R.E., 1977 - Geologic map of the Boulder City 15-minute quadrangle, Clark County, Nevada. U.S. Geological Survey Geologic Quadrangle Map GQ-1395, scale 1:62.500.

Ascione A. & Cinque A., 1996 - L'età della tettonica trascorrente nell'Appennino campano: il contributo dell'analisi geomorfologica. Studi Geologici Camerti, vol. spec. 1995(2), 41-52.

Bosworth W., 1985 - Geometry of propagating continental rifts. Nature, 316, 625-627.

Brown L.D., Chapin C.E., Sanford A.R., Kaufman S., and Oliver J., 1980 - Deep structure of the Rio Grande rift from seismic reflection profiling. Journal of Geophysical Research, 85, 4773-4800.

Bruno, P.P., Di Flore V., and Ventura G., 2000 - Seismic study of the '41st parallel' Fault System offshore the Campanian-Latial continental margin, Italy. Tectonophysics, 324, 37-55.

Buccheri G., Capretto G., Di Donato V., Esposito P., Ferruzza G., Pescatore T., Russo Ermolli E., Senatore M.R., Sprovieri M., Bertoldo M., Carella D., Madonia G., 2002 - A high resolution record of the last deglaciation in the southern Tyrrhenian Sea: environmental and climatic evolution. Mar Geol, 186, 447–470.

Caiazzo C., Ascione A., Cinque A., 2006 - Late Tertiary–Quaternary tectonics of the Southern Apennines (Italy): New evidences from the Tyrrhenian slope. Tectonophysics, 421, 23–51.

100

Capotorti F., Tozzi M., 1991 – Tettonica trascorrente nella penisola sorrentina. Mem. Soc. Geol. It., 47, 235-249.

Cartwrigth, J., Huuse, M., Aplin, A., 2007 - Seal bypass systems. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, 91, 1141–1166.

Chappell J., Shackleton N.J., 1986 - Oxygen isotopes and sea level. Nature, 324, 137–140.

Chiocci, EL., 1994 - Very high-resolution seismics as a tool for sequence stratigraphy applied to outcrop scale Examples from eastern Tyrrhenian margin Holocene/Pleistocene deposits. Am. Assoc. Pet. Geol. Bull., 78: 378-395.

Chiocci F.L., 2000 - Depositional response to Quaternary fourth-order sea-level fluctuations on the Latium margin (Tyrrhenian Sea, Italy). In Hunt D., and Gawthorpe R.L., eds., Sedimentary response to forced regressions. Geological Society of London, 172, 271-289.

Chiocci, EL. and Orlando, L., 1996 - Lowstand terraces on Tyrrhenian Sea steep continental slopes. Mar. Geol., 134, 127-143.

Chiocci F.L., Ercilla G., and Torres J., 1997 - Stratal architecture of Western Mediterranean Margins as the result of the stacking of Quaternary lowstand deposits below 'glacio-eustatic fluctuation base-level'. Sedimentary Geology, 112, 195-217.

Chun, J.H., Ryu, B.J., Lee, C.S., Kim, Y.J., Choi, J.Y., Kang, N.K., Bahk, J.J., Kim, J.H., Kim, K.J., Yoo, D.G., 2012 - Factors determining the spatial distribution of gas-charged sediments in the continental shelf off southeastern Korea. Marine Geology, 332–334, 27–39.

Cinque A., Patacca E., Scandone P. & Tozzi M., 1993 – Quaternary kinematic evolution of the Southern Apennines. Annali di Geofisica, 36 (2), 249-260.

Cinque A., Ascione A., Caiazzo C., 2000 - Distribuzione spazio-temporale e caratterizzazione della fagliazione quaternaria in Appennino meridionale. Le ricerche del GNDT nel campo della pericolosità sismica, Edited by F. Galadini, C. Meletti, A. Rebez, 01/2000, 203-218; CNR – Gruppo Nazionale per la Difesa dai Terremoti., ISBN: 88-900449-2 -6

Coppa M.G., Ferraro L., Pennetta M., Russo B., Valente A., Secchione C. 1996 - Sedimentology and micropaleontology of the core G39-C27 (Gaeta bay, central Tyrrhenian Sea, Italy). Il Quaternario, 9(2), 687–696.

Crone A.J., and Haller K.M., 1991 - Segmentation and the coseismic behavior of Basin and Range normal faults: examples from east-central Idaho and southwestern Montana, USA. Journal of Structural Geology, 13, 151-164.

D'Argenio A., Pescatore T., Senatore M.R., 2004 - Sea-level change and volcano-tectonic interplay. The Gulf of Pozzuoli (Campi Flegrei, Eastern Tyrrhenian Sea) during the last 39 ka. J Volcanol Geoth Res, 133, 105–121.

De Alteriis G., Fedi M., Passaro S., Siniscalchi A., 2002 - Geologically constrained seismic/magnetic modelling: an example from the Campania offshore at 41°N (Italy, Tyrrhenian sea). Bollettino di Geofisica Teorica Applicata, 42 (Suppl. n. 1/2), 281-284.

De Alteriis G., Fedi M., Passaro S., and Siniscalchi A., 2006 - Magneto-seismic interpretation of subsurface volcanism in the Gaeta Gulf (Italy, Tyrrhenian Sea). Annals of Geophysics, 49 (4/5), 929-943.

DePolo, C. M., Clark, D. G., Slemmons, D. B., and Ramelli, A. R., 1991 - Historical faulting in the Basin and Range province, western North America: Implications for fault segmentation. Journal of Structural Geology, 13, 123-136.

Deino A.L., Southon I., Terrasi F., Campajola L. & Orsi G., 1994 - 14C and 40Ar/39Ar dating of the Campania Ignimbrite, Phlegrean Fields, Italy. Abstract ICOG, Berkeley, 77.

Durán, R., García-Gil, S., Diez, R., Vilas, F., 2007 - Stratigraphic framework of gas accumulations in the Ría de Pontevedra. Geo-Marine Letters, 27, 77–88.

Einsele G., 1982 - Mechanism of sill intrusion into soft sediment and expulsion of pore water. Deep Sea Drilling Project, Initial Reports. 64,1169-1 176

Ercilla, G., Alonso, B., Baraza, J., 1994 - Post-Calabrian sequence stratigraphy of the northwestern Alboran Sea (southwestern Mediterranean). Marine Geology 120, 249–265.

Farrán, M. and Maldonado, A., 1990 - The Ebro continental shelf: Quaternary seismic stratigraphy and growth patterns. Mar. Geol., 95, 289-312.

Faulds J.E., Geissman J.W., and Mawer C.K., 1990 - Structural development of a major extensional accommodation zone in the Basin and Range Province, northwestern Arizona and southern

102

Nevada: Implications for kinematic models of continental extension. In Wernike B.P., ed., Basin and Range extensional tectonics near the latitude of Las Vegas, Nevada. Geological Society of America Memoir, 176, 37-76.

Faulds J.E., and Varga R.J. 1998 - The role of accommodation zones and transfer zones in the regional segmentation of extended terranes. Geological Society of America Special Paper 323, pp. 45.

Ferranti L., Oldow J.S., Sacchi M., 1996 - Pre-Quaternary orogen-parallel extension in Southern Apennines belt, Italy. Tectonophysics 260, 325–347

Fleischer, P., Orsi, T.H., Richardson, M.D., Anderson, A.L., 2001 - Distribution of free gas in marine sediments: a global overview. Geo-Marine Letters, 21, 103–122.

Foland, S.S., Maher, N., Yun, J.W., 1999 - Pockmarks along the CalifornianContinentalMargin: implications for fluid flow.Abstract. AAPG Bull. 83, 681–706.

Fraccascia, S., Chiocci, F.L., Scrocca, D., Falese, F., 2013 - Very high-resolution seismic stratigraphy of Pleistocene eustatic minima markers as a tool to reconstruct the tectonic evolution of the northern Latium shelf (Tyrrhenian Sea, Italy). Geology, 41, 375-378

Gawthorpe R.L., and Hurst J.M., 1993 - Transfer zones in extensional basins: their structural style and influence on drainage development and stratigraphy. Journal of the Geological Society, London, 150, 1993, 1137-1152.

Gay, A., Lopez, M., Ondreas, H., Charlou, J.-L., Sermondadaz, G., Cochonat, P., 2006a - Seafloor facies related to upward methane flux within a Giant Pockmark of the Lower Congo Basin. Marine Geology, 226, 81–95.

Gay, A., Lopez, M., Cochonat, P., Levaché, D., Sermondadaz, G., Seranne, M., 2006b - Evidences of early to late fluid migration from an upper Miocene turbiditic channel revealed by 3D seismic coupled to geochemical sampling within seafloor pockmarks, Lower Congo Basin. Mar. Pet. Geol. 23, 387–399.

Gibbs A.D., 1984 - Structural evolution of extensional basin margins. Journal of the Geological Society of London, 141, 609-620.

103

Giordano, G., Naso, G., Trigari, A., 1995. Evoluzione tettonica di un settore particolare del margine tirrenico: l'area al confine tra Lazio e Campania, prime considerazioni. Studi Geolog. Camerti, Vol. spec. 1995/2, 269–278.

Grapes R.H., Reid D.L. & McPherson J., G., 1973 - Shallow dolerite intrusions and phreatic eruption in the Allan Hills region, Antarctica. New Zealand Journal of Geology and Geophysics, 17, 563-577.

Haskell, N., Nissen, S., Whitman, D., Antrim, L., 1997 - Structural features on the West African continental slope delineated by 3-D seismic coherency: abstract. AAPG Bull. 81, 1382.

Hippolyte J.C., Angelier J. & Roure F. 1994 - A major geodynamic change revealed by Quaternary stress pattern in the Southern Apennines. Tectonophys., 230, 199-210.

Hunt D., and Tucker M.E., 1992 – Stranded parasequences and the forced regressive wedge systems tract: deposition during base-level fall. Sedimentary Geology, 81, 1-9.

Iorio M., Capretto G., Petruccione E., Marsella E., Aiello G., and Senatore M.R., 2014 - Multi-proxy analysis in defining sedimentary processes in very recent prodelta deposits: the Northern Phlegraean offshore example (Eastern Tyrrhenian Margin). Rend. Fis. Acc. Lincei DOI 10.1007/s12210-014-0303-3

Jamtveit B., Svensen H., Podladchikov Y., Planke S., 2004 - Hydrothermal vent complexes associated with sill intrusions in sedimentary basins. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 234,233-241.

Judd, A.G., Hovland, M., 2007 - Seabed Fluid Flow: The Impact on Geology, Biology and the Marine Environment. University Press, Cambridge. 475 pp.

Krynauw J.R., Hunter D.R. & Wilsona H., 1988 - Emplacement of sills into wet sediments at Grunehogna, western Dronning Maud Land, Antarctica. Journal of the Geological Society, London, 145.1019-1032.

Larsen P.H., 1988 - Relay structures in a Lower-Permian basement-involved estensional system, East Greenland. Journal of Structural Geology, 10, 3-8.

Lister G.S., Etheridge M.A., and Symonds P.A., 1986 - Detachment faulting and the evolution of passive continental margins. Geology, 14, 246-250.

Lobo F.J., Tesson M., and Gensous B., 2004 - Stratral architectures of late Quaternary regressive transgressive cycles in the Roussillon Shelf (SW Gulf of Lions, France). Marine and Petroleum Geology, 21, 1181–1203.

Martínez-Carreño N., and García-Gil S., 2013 - The Holocene gas system of the Ría de Vigo (NWSpain): Factors controlling the location of gas accumulations, seeps and pockmarks. Marine Geology, 344, 82-100.

Mazumdar, A., Peketi, A., Dewangan, P., Badesab, F., Ramprasad, T., Ramana, M.V., Patil, D.J., Dayal, A., 2009 - Shallow gas charged sediments off the Indian west coast: genesis and distribution. Marine Geology, 267, 71–85.

McClay K., and Khalil S., 1998 - Extensional hard linkages, eastern Gulf of Suez, Egypt. Geology, 26 (6), 563-566.

McNeill, A.E., Salisbury, R.S.K., Østmor, S.R., Lien, R., Evans, D., 1998 - A regional shallow stratigraphic framework off mid Norway and observations of deep water "special features". Offshore Technol. Conf. 8639, 97–109.

Milia, A., 1999 - Aggrading and prograding infill of a peri-Tyrrhenian Basin (Naples Bay, Italy). Geo-Marine Letters, 19 (4), 237–244.

Milia A. and Torrente M.M., 2003 - Late Quaternary volcanism and transtensional tectonics in the Bay of Naples, Campanian continental margin, Italy. Mineralogy and Petrology, 79, 49-65.

Morley C.K., Nelson R.A., Patton T.L., and Munn S.G., 1990 - Transfer zones in the East African Rift system and their relevance to hydrocarbon exploration in rifts. AAPG Bulletin, 74, 1234-1253.

Moussat, E., Rehault, J.P., Fabbri, A., 1986 - Rifting et évolution tectono-sédimentaire du Bassin Tyrrhénien au cours du Néogène et du Quaternaire. G. Geol. ser. 3, 48 (1/2), 41–62

Peacock, D.C.P. and Sanderson, D.J. 1991 - Displacements, segment linkage and relay ramps in normal fault zones. Journal of Structural Geology, 13, 721-733. Pollard, D.D., Segall, P. and Delaney, P.T. 1982. Formation and interpretation of dilatant echelon cracks. Geological Society of America Bulletin, 93, 1291-1303.

Peacock D.C.P., and Sanderson D.J., 1994 - Geometry and development of relay ramps in normal fault systems. AAPG Bulletin, 78, 147-165.

105

Pescatore T., Russo Ermolli E., Senatore M.R., Sprovieri M., Bertoldo M., Carella D., Madonia G., 2002 - A high resolution record of the last deglaciation in the southern Tyrrhenian Sea: environmental and climatic evolution. Mar Geol, 186, 447–470.

Pilcher R., and Argent J., 2007 - Mega-pockmarks and linear pockmark trains on the West African continental margin. Marine Geology, 244, 15-32.

Ridente D., Petrungaro R., Falese F., Chiocci F.L., 2012 - Middle-Upper Pleistocene record of 100-ka depositional sequences on the Southern Tuscany continental margin (Tyrrhenian Sea, Italy). Sequence architecture and margin growth pattern. Marine Geology, 326-328, 1-13, doi: 10.1016/j.margeo.2012.09.003

Romano P., Santo A. & Voltaggio M. 1994 - L'evoluzione geomorfologica della pianura del F. Volturno (Campania) durante il tardo Quaternario (Pleistocene medio-superiore - Olocene). Il Quaternario, 7(1), 41-56.

Rosendahl B.R., 1987; Architecture of continental rifts with special reference to East Africa. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 15, 445-504.

Rowland, J.V., and Sibson, R.H., 2001 - Extensional fault kinematics within the Taupo Volcanic Zone, New Zealand: Soft-linked segmentation of a continental rift system: New Zealand Journal of Geology and Geophysics, 44, 271–284.

Sartori, R., 1990 - The main results of ODP Leg 107 in the frame of Neogene to Recent geology of the Peri-Tyrrhenian areas. In: Kastens, A., Mascle, K.J., et al. (Eds.), Proceedings of ODP, Scientific Results, vol. 107. Ocean Drilling Program, College Station, TX, pp. 715–730

Schubel, J.R., 1974. Gas bubbles and the acoustically impenetrable, or turbid, character of some estuarine sediments. In: Kaplan, I.R. (Ed.), Natural Gases in Marine Sediments. Plenum, 275–298.

Sultan, N., Foucher, J.P., Cochonat, P., Tonnerre, T., Bourillet, J.F., Ondreas, H., Cauquil, E., Grauls, D., 2004 - Dynamics of gas hydrate: case of the Congo continental slope. Marine Geology, 206, 1–18.

Tesson, M., Gensous, B., Allen, G.P. and Ravenne, C., 1990 - Late Quaternary deltaic lowstand wedges on the Rhone continental shelf, France. Mar. Geol., 91: 325-332.

106

Torres, J., 1995 - Analyse détaillée du transfert de sédiment du continent vers le bassin: le Quaternaire terminal au large du Delta du Rhône (Mtditerran6e nord-occidentale). Thèse Univ. Brest, 329 pp.

Trudgill B., and Cartwright J., 1994 - Relay-ramp forms and normal-fault linkages, Canyonlands National Park, Utah. Geological Society of America Bulletin, 106, 1143-1157.

Walsh, J. J., and Watterson, J., 1991 - Geometric and kinematic coherence and scale effects in normal fault systems, in Roberts, A. M., Yielding, G., and Freeman, B., eds., The geometry of normal faults. Geological Society of London Special Publication, 56, 193-206.

Williams, D.E, Thunell, R.C., Tappa, E. and Raffi, I., 1988. Chronology of the Pleistocene oxygen isotope record 0-1.88 m.y. B.E Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol., 64, 221-240.